



Load Test Creation Tutorial

Copyright Notice

COPYRIGHT© 2015 SOASTA Inc. This document is unpublished and the foregoing notice is affixed to protect SOASTA Inc. in the event of inadvertent publication. All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form, including photocopying or transmission electronically to any computer, without prior written consent of SOASTA Inc. The information contained in this document is confidential and proprietary to SOASTA Inc. and may not be used or disclosed except as expressly authorized in writing by SOASTA Inc. Copyright protection includes material generated from our software programs displayed on the screen, such as icons, screen displays, and the like.

Trademarks

Technologies described herein are either covered by existing patents or patent applications are in progress. All brand and product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders and are hereby acknowledged.

Confidentiality

The information in this document is subject to change without notice. This document contains information that is confidential and proprietary to SOASTA Inc. and may not be copied, published, or disclosed to others, or used for any purposes other than review, without written authorization of an officer of SOASTA Inc. Submission of this document does not represent a commitment to implement any portion of this specification in the products of the submitters.

Content Warranty

The information in this document is subject to change without notice. THIS DOCUMENT IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND SOASTA MAKES NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ALL WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. SOASTA Inc. shall not be liable for errors contained herein or for incidental or consequential damages in connection with the furnishing, performance or use of this material.

Version

15

Table of Contents

About SOASTA, Inc
Audience 1
Terminology1
What Will You Learn?
CloudLink Community
Prerequisites
SOASTA Conductor4
Recording User Scenarios
Recording Guidelines
Recording Steps – Option 1 (Using the Recording Editor)
Inspecting and Filtering Your Recording in the Recording Editor
Create a Test Clip from a Recording14
Recording Steps – Option 223
Inspecting Your Recording in the Clip Editor
Using the Session Template Package Wizard31
Scanning a Clip for Values to Replace
Configure session templates (SubString Parser and XPath)
Inspecting Applied Session Template Values43
Pre-test Page validation
Verify Pages are grouped correctly47
Rename Pages (and messages) as appropriate50
Playing and Debugging a Simple Test56
Result Details Dashboard
Verifying Test Parameterization63
Test editing and parameterization66
Session Template Wizard
Session Template Parameterization: Under the covers74
Finishing Parameterization77
Find and Replace78
Creating User-Defined Validations80

Using Scripts	84
Using Transactions	91
Using Seed Data to Parameterize data	94
Test Execution	100
Setting Play Mode for Load Testing	
Adding System Dashboards to tests	
Advanced exercise	
Next Steps	103
Pages versus Transactions	
Building Dashboards	
Dynamic Pages	
If-Then-Else and Switch	
Monitoring	

About SOASTA, Inc.

SOASTA's mission is to ensure that today's Web applications and services perform in a high quality, scalable, and predictable manner. The company's product, SOASTA CloudTest[™], is available as an on-demand service in the Cloud or as an appliance (virtual and hardware), and enables developers and testers to test and monitor their Web applications and services at an affordable price. SOASTA CloudTest supports Load/Performance, Functional, and Web UI/Ajax testing. SOASTA is privately held and headquartered in Mountain View, California.

SOASTA also offers two additional products currently; TouchTest and mPulse For more information about SOASTA, please visit www.soasta.com.

Audience

This tutorial is designed to be an introduction to SOASTA CloudTest for individuals familiar with other proprietary or open source tools for developing and executing load/performance tests.

In addition to some experience in load/performance testing, experience with web-based applications based on the underlying HTTP request/response message structure will be beneficial.

The tutorial target application site (SOASTAStore.com) has been selected to demonstrate fundamental features found in many public-facing applications. Subsequent exercises demonstrate the need to address more complex application development techniques.

Terminology

- Message Messages are the HTTP requests or XML sent to a web application or web service. Messages are represented visually in SOASTA CloudTest as boxes in the icon view and URL values in the list view.
- Script SOASTA CloudTest Scripts are written in JavaScript and allow you to add custom logic to a Test Clip. For example, a script that modifies the input data for a message based upon a set of status codes from the previous message response extracts data or validates responses. For people who have used other products, those products reference the test itself as a Script. In CloudTest, a script is a JavaScript snippet of code that gets included inside a Test Clip.
- **Page** Pages are groups of HTTP requests that enable CloudTest to simulate the order and timing of browser traffic. Pages can be either "static" or "dynamic". Static pages

use the same requests captured during the recording process while dynamic pages parse the HTML response to identify resources associated with that page.

- Transaction A transaction is a larger unit of work in a test than a single page or single chain. A transaction is often associated with a portion of a business flow and may include, for example, hitting a page, logging in, and performing some action. A transaction can include chains, pages, messages, and think times (delays).
- **Test Clip** The building block of testing in SOASTA CloudTest is the Test Clip. A Test Clip is a visual script that is composed of a series of sequenced events (an event can be, for example, an HTTP request or a SOAP message). Once built and debugged, these Test Clips can be reused for any type of testing: functional testing, load testing, performance testing and Web UI testing where appropriate.
- Composition A Test Composition is a multi-track interface where test clips can be placed at different times and tracks to create complex testing scenarios. This interface is similar to music and movie digital creation tools. CloudTest provides a number of methods to create Test Compositions including by using the "Open in Test Composition" command from within the Clip Editor (the method used in the tutorial steps below). Test Compositions can also be created manually by creating a new Test Composition and then dragging and dropping Test Clips into a sequence based on when they should execute.
- Target A Target points to the application, service, or web site that you want to test, including its location (hostname) and any authentication information necessary to successfully connect to the target. A Target also contains a specification of the information needed to properly format and send messages to the given service or site.
- Monitor Server A Monitor Server defines which hardware resources will be monitored. Typical Monitor Servers are Linux/Windows/Mac, database, and application servers. SNMP devices are also Monitor Servers. A Monitor Server does not define the metrics to be captured; just 'how' they will be captured (IP Addresses, ports, authentication, etc.).
- Monitor A Monitor defines the resources for which you will capture data to be used in analytics. This data typically includes statistics on resource usage, processes and activity. Monitored data appears in the Dashboard on the same timeline as test metrics such as response times and error rates. Reference: <u>SOASTA Monitoring FAQ in</u> <u>CloudLink</u>.
- Dashboard A Dashboard is where you view and analyze your test results in real-time. SOASTA CloudTest provides a wide variety of analytic widgets to fill your Dashboards. You can use one or more widgets to track your test in real time and capture results for post-test analysis.
- **Conductor** SOASTA Conductor is an agent that runs on a client machine (for HTTP/HTTPs recording) or servers (for monitoring server metrics like CPU usage, for example). The Conductor runs on Windows, Linux, and Mac OS X machines.

- Session Template A session template is essentially a parameterization rule that defines how to extract a name/value pair from a response, put it into a clip property, so that it can substitute the data dynamically at runtime. The task of replacing dynamic values in CloudTest can be done manually or by creating a session template that can be applied and re-applied to like test clips.
- **Session Template Package** A Session Template Package contains a set of session templates that were originally created using a selected test clip. A package can be reused across multiple test clips and eliminates the need to repeatedly define how to extract a particular dynamic name/value pair.
- Session Template Wizard This wizard is started within the Test Clip editor and allows the parameterization of one name/value pair at a time. At the completion of the wizard, the dynamic values are replaced (by custom properties) and a reusable session template is created.
- Session Template Package Wizard This wizard is started from either SOASTA Central or within the Test Clip Editor and parameterizes multiple name/value pairs at the same time. It also creates a Session Template Package as its output.
- Virtual Users Software programs or services that, when executed iteratively, generate traffic from their location to target servers or services, as would real users of these same servers or services. These are concurrent users.
- Load Testing (also known as Performance Testing) is the use of a coordinated community of virtual users to place "load" on servers or services simulating some future workload for evaluation. Many different categories or terms for performance testing with virtual users are in current use such as benchmarks, endurance, stress tests, failover tests, etc. In the context of this tutorial, "Load Testing" and "Performance Testing" will be used interchangeably.
- Think Times A think time is used in a test to simulate the natural pauses that a user has while accessing a web application. A user doesn't just blast through a bunch of URLs. For example, it might take a user 10-15 seconds to enter their credentials when a login page is loaded in the browser. That 10-15 second period is a think time. Think times are critical to a test as it makes the test more real world by simulating what a real user would do.

What Will You Learn?

In this tutorial, the goal is simple: Create and run a test to demonstrate the fundamental features of SOASTA CloudTest and develop understanding of using these features to be successful. At the end of this tutorial is a list of next steps to continue your education on SOASTA CloudTest.

The tutorial general process is as follow:

• Create an HTTP/HTTPs recording of the web application test scenario, either in the Clip Editor or Recording Editor (both methods are documented)

- Inspect the recorded clip
- Use the Session Template Package Wizard to start the correlation process
- Verify/rename Pages and Page contents, as necessary
- Debug test playback
- Additional parameterization using the Session Template Wizard
- Manual parameterization
- Using Find and Replace
- Creating user-defined validations
- Using Scripts
- Using Transactions
- Including Seed Data in a test
- Run a load test using Load Play Mode

CloudLink Community

SOASTA has created a community site, CloudLink, which is a primary source of technical information about how to use CloudTest. The site contains a KnowledgeBase, training materials, documentation, and a forum to ask questions. Both SOASTA employees and community members contribute to the content on the site. Throughout this Tutorial, CloudLink is referenced as a source of additional information on a variety of topics. Please use CloudLink to expand your knowledge of CloudTest and as a way to interact directly with SOASTA employees and other CloudTest users.

Prerequisites

The following items are prerequisites for the successful completion of this tutorial.

SOASTA Conductor

HTTP(s) Message recording requires that the SOASTA Conductor agent be installed on a client machine on which you want to do recording. This machine can be running any of the common operating systems: Windows, Linux, or Mac OS X.

To download the Conductor, log into CloudTest with the URL and account credentials provided by your CloudTest administrator.

If you haven't yet installed the Conductor, you can do so from the SOASTA CloudTest > Resources page, download section. The appropriate Conductor installation file should be listed.



If you need to download an installation file for a different operating system, click the "Other Operating Systems..." link.



Additional SOASTA Conductor configuration instructions can be accessed from *Installing SOASTA Conductor* in CloudLink.

Recording User Scenarios

SOASTA CloudTest's HTTP(s) recording feature provides a read-only view of a given user scenario as captured from the browser's HTTP(s) traffic. CloudTest offers two HTTP(S) recording modes—the first is performed using the Recording Editor, while the second mode records directly into the Clip Editor. The steps to record using both modes are presented in the Option 1 and Option 2 steps below

Recording Guidelines

To record a user scenario, use one browser for CloudTest (recommended: Firefox or Chrome) and a separate browser (recommended: Internet Explorer, Chrome, or Safari) to perform user actions.

Before recording, it is recommended you do the following things:

- Clear the browser's cache and cookies before recording user scenarios.
- Close any additional programs that use the network (e.g. mail, calendar, and all social media applications), and any other applications that access the Internet to eliminate unnecessary HTTP traffic in the recording.
- For a cleaner recording, make the default home page for the second browser about:blank.

The example scenario in this tutorial uses a demonstration site, SOASTA Store (www.soastastore.com). This site has been created to demonstrate some of the most common topics for training purposes.

Recording Steps – Option 1 (Using the Recording Editor)

The following steps detail how to capture user actions via the Recording Editor.

1. Locate and launch your SOASTA Conductor application. The SOASTA Conductor opens with the status "running" and the Conductor name in display.

The Mac OSX version of Conductor is shown below.



In Windows, the Conductor will appear in the System Tray. Make sure the icon has a gold color. Otherwise, the Conductor is not connected to the CloudTest server.

< 🐼 🔐 💽 🖶 🌄 👘 💭 🕪 12:59 PM

- 2. Login to CloudTest using Firefox or Chrome. For this tutorial, it is recommend that you use Firefox.
- 3. Go to Central list > Recordings and then click New \bigcirc in the toolbar.

The Recording Editor, New HTTP(S) Message Recording step appears.

- 4. Enter a name for the recording. For example, *SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply*.
- 5. Optionally, click Browse and specify a folder location for the recording using the Select Folder box. For example, *SOASTA Tutorial*. Click New Folder to create a folder if the desired folder doesn't exist.

Name:	Recording at	Select Folder	×	Browse
Availab	le Conductors	Select the folder in which to save the recording.		
Name	8			Last Modified
Conduc Recordi	Rob's MacBook	Where:		07/01/2011 8:35 ar
Click he	(ere to downloa	New Folder	OK Cancel	

6. In the Available Conductors list, select the Conductor launched (in Step 1 above).

	ductors:			
Name		Hostname	Created	Last Modified
Conductor S	tatus: connected			
ecording Me	ethod: HTTP(S) Recording Packet-level Recording 	If you are Firefox af button. Alternativ listener po	going to use Firefox to genera ter clicking the record button a ely you can manually specify F ort" as defined in the Conducto	te the traffic to record, you need to restart nd again after clicking the stop recording irefox's proxy (using the "HTTPS proxy or configuration panel).

New HTTP(S) Message Recording

1. Ensure that your SOASTA Conductor status is "connected". If your SOASTA Conductor is not connected, the following steps will not work. Verify the Conductor connection settings and restart it.

2. Accept the default Recording Method, *HTTP(S) Recording*.

• HTTP(S) Recording is the default Recording Method in the Recording Editor and is required to record HTTPS sites. This enables an HTTP(S) proxy in SOASTA Conductor for recording.

When HTTP(S) Recording is checked, a reminder appears to notify you that HTTPS recording of the target site should be done from the Internet Explorer, Safari or Chrome browsers (not Firefox). If you must use Firefox, you will have to manually specify Firefox's proxy using the "HTTPS proxy listener port" setting in the Conductor configuration panel.

- To record packet-level or HTTP traffic, click Packet-level Recording instead. This option is rarely used and should only be used if SOASTA support recommends it.
- 3. Launch the second browser (e.g. Internet Explorer, Chrome, or Safari) and clear its cache and cookies. Close down any other unnecessary applications that use the

network. Set the second browser URL to "about:blank". For this tutorial, it is recommended that you use Chrome or Safari as the second browser.

In the following example, a user will post a forum topic to the SOASTA Store site and reply to it. This tutorial will walk you through the process of creating this test.

4. Return to the Recording Editor in the first browser and click the Record button.



The Recording Editor appears and goes into listening mode.

5. Open <u>http://www.soastastore.com/</u> in the second browser.

_								
50	ing SOAS	Attordable	resting	g of web	Apps			Search
This	site is intende	d to provide a platfe	orm for learni	ing SOASTA's Clo	udTest. It is compris	sed of a number of p	lug-ins that	Archives • October 2013 • September 2013
inclu	ude a forum an trate new featu	d a simple product : res in CloudTest.	store with a f	ew books, DVDs a	nd CDs for purchase.	. The site will chang	e over time to	Meta
IIIUSI								 Register
inne	inde non reat							 Log in
	Fundamentals Elapsed Time 00:49:33.60 Start: 8:23:43 am	Message/Action Errors 1,226,333 of 2,685,085 - 45,672%	Script Errors 0 of 13,432 - 0%	Avg Response Time 2173 ms. Min: 1 ms. Max: 152992 ms.	^{Total Bytes} S: 1 GB R: 9 GB	Effective Throughput 903 msgs/sec 3,299,560 bytes/sec. 26,396,478 bits/sec.	Virtual Users 10,000	 Log in About You IP: 74.130.173.23 Location:
	Fundamentals Elapsed Time 00:49:33.60 Start 8:23:43 am Virtual Users vs. 10.000	Messege/Action Errors 1,226,333 of 2,685,085 - 45,672% Average Response Time	Script Errors 0 of 13,432 - 0%	Avg Response Time 2173 ms. Mirc 1 ms. Marc 152992 ms. Be 4.678	Total Bytes S: 1 GB R: 9 GB nd Rate	Effective Throughput 903 nsgs/sec 3.299.560 bytes/sec. 28.396,476 bits/sec.	Virtual Users 10,000	 Log in About You IP: 74.130.173.23 Location: Browser: Safari Generic OS: MacOSX

style.css

thickbox.c

search 7. In the second browser, click the "Forum" link.

search



search

search

The Forum page appears.

orum				
GUEST	You must be logged in to	o post 🤞	👌 Login 🤱 R	egister
	New/R	ecently Updated Topics 🛟	Select Forum	\$
6	Support		2	Group RSS
8	Support Forums	Last Post	Topics	Group RSS Posts
Wet	Support Forums Isite Issues	Last Post June 22, 2011 12:37 pm by admin	Topics 2	Group RSS Posts 2

The SOASTA Store user accounts below will be used for this tutorial:

- testuser1 / soasta
- testuser2 / soasta
- testuser3 / soasta
- testuser4 / soasta
- testuser5 / soasta
- 8. Click the login button with the key icon to the left of it (^{*A*} Login</sup>) and enter the credentials for the first user in the list above.

GUEST	You must be logged in to post	🙈 Login 🄱 Register
	Username: testuser1 Password: •••••• Remember me	
	Login	
	Register? Lost Your Password?	

9. Click the Login button.



Confirm the login was successful. You will see a "Logged in as ..." message.

- 10. Click the "Product Questions" link in the "Pre-Sales" Forum Group.
- 11. Click the "Add a New Topic" link.
- 12. Enter "Post 1" as the Topic Name.
- 13. Enter "This is sample text for Post 1." as the content for this post.
- 14. Click the "Post New Topic" button.
- 15. Click the "Reply to Post" link.
- 16. Enter "This is reply text for Post 1." As the content for this post.
- 17. Click the "Post New Reply" button.
- 18. Click the "Logout" link at the top of the page.
- 19. Return to the first browser and then click the Stop button when you've finished your scenario.



Inspecting and Filtering Your Recording in the Recording Editor

1. Once the recording is finished, review the HTTP(S) messages that were recorded and verify that the recording looks accurate and complete. When scrolling left or right, messages are dynamically loaded into the Recording Editor.



Note: Message colors correspond to Content-Type. For a guide to content colors in CloudTest, see the CloudLink article, <u>Using the Recording</u> Editor, *Icon Colors for Content Type* section.

• List

You can inspect the recording in List view (after recording is stopped) to get a different view of what you've captured.



• Click any message in the recording to view detailed information about that HTTP request.

Clo	bud	lest 🖊	🔚 Central	🖲 SOAS	TAd Reply	\odot	[Robert Holcomb / SOAST
6		List 🔻	Convert to	a Clip	8	© 00	0:03:00.388 📋 111 кв 188,766
	Seq #	Resp. Cod	е Туре	Method	Protocol	Host Name	URL
	1	200	JS	GET	http	clients1.google.com	/complete/search?client=chrome&hl=en-US&q=SOASTA+Store+Post+Forum+Topic+and+Reply
	2	200	JS	GET	http	clients1.google.com	/complete/search?client=chrome&hl=en-US&q=www
	3	200	JS	GET	http	clients1.google.com	/complete/search?client=chrome&hl=en-US&q=www.soasta
	4	200	JS	GET	http	clients1.google.com	/complete/search?client=chrome&hl=en-US&q=www.soastastore.com
	5	200	HTML	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	1
	6	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/style.css
	7	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-commerce/wpsc-core/js/thickbox.css?ver=3.8.4.391083
	8	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-commerce/wpsc-core/js/product_rater.css?ver=3.8.4.391083
	9	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-commerce/wpsc-theme/compatibility.css?ver=3.8.4.391083
	10	200	JS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-includes/js/l10n.js?ver=20101110
	11	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/wpsc-default.css?ver=3.8.4.391083
	12	200	JS	GET	http	www.soastastore.com	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-commerce/wpsc-core/js/jquery.infieldlabel.min.js?ver=3.8.4.391083
	13	200	.15	GET	htto	www.soastastore.com	/wn-content/olunins/wn-e-commerce/wnsc-core/is/aiax_is?ver=3.8.4.391083
	Decode t	his binary end	oded message	e using: N	one	÷	
Req	uest						Response
Hea	ders						Headers
	Accent-	Language:	en-US.en:o	=0.8			X-Pingback: http://www.spastastore.com/xmlrpc.r
		Host:	www.soasta	store.com	1		Content-Length: 2684
	Accept	-Charset:	ISO-8859-1	,utf-8;q=	0.7,*;q=0.	3	Expires: Thu, 19 Nov 1981 08:52:00 GMT
	Accept -	Encoding:	gzip,defla	te,sdch			Set-Cookie: PHPSESSID=nrpiluni6777j6s3gahcllbc
	Us	er-Agent:	Mozilla/5.	0 (Macint	osh; Intel	Mac OS X 10_6_8)	Server: Apache/2.2.14 (Ubuntu)
			Safari/534	.30	(KHIPL, L1	ke Gecko; Chrome/12	X-Powered-By: PHP/5.3.2-lubuntu4.9
		Accept:	text/html,	applicati	.on/xhtml+x	ml,application/xml;	q=0.9,* vacne-control: no-store, no-cache, must-revalidate

In the table of messages the following fields are shown:

- Sequence Number (Seq #)
- Response Code (for HTTP)
- Type (Content-Type)
- Method (GET, PUT, POST)
- o Protocol
- o Host Name
- o URL (from root)
- o Source IP
- o Destination IP

The lower portion of this screen displays this information about each request:

- o Request Headers
- Request Body (content appears only for PUT and POST, generally)
- Response Headers
- Response Body
- Choose the first message that has / as its URL and check *Show as HTML*, which appears above the Response Body field (lower right).

The item appears as formatted HTML.

Body (GZip decompressed	for viewing)		
Reformat Content	Show the entire response	🗹 Show as HTML	
 Post a d About SOASTA 	comment		4
Scalable, Affor	dable Testing of Web A	pps	
Using SOASTA	Store		
This site is intended to p very simple product stor to enable our Performan CloudTest.	rovide a platform for demonstrating e with a few books, DVDs and CDs in the Engineers and partners to demon	SOASTA's CloudTest and for training. It is a for purchase. The site will change over time nstrate and train on new features in	J
Comments are closed.			
Search for:	Search	•	¥.

• Filter

Filtering allows you to eliminate messages that are not important for the test. Often this may include messages from Google Analytics or CDNs, depending on what is being tested. Removing these 3rd party requests will depend on the goals for the test.

nvert to a Clip		Y

You can filter by the following criteria by clicking the Filter icon: URL, Host Name, Destination IP, Source IP, Method, Duration, Count, Response Code, and Protocol.

1. In the Host Name filter row, enter *soastastore.com*.



2. Click Apply to view the filter results.



- **Note:** Filtering can be done by any of the drop-down fields. The messages in the recording can also be selected as a means of filtering the end result. For a complete discussion of filtering, see *Filtering Recordings* in CloudLink.
- 15. Once you have settled on a final set of filters, click Convert to a Clip. For this tutorial leave the single filter entered above as the only one applied to the recording.

💌 🖸	Convert to a Clip	lî
------	-------------------	----

This will convert the read-only recording of the user scenario to an editable test. Test editing occurs in the Test Clip Editor after conversion is complete.

Create a Test Clip from a Recording

After you click Convert to a Clip, the Create a Test Clip from Recording box appears with the Name step selected to begin the conversion process.

|--|

Create a Clip From Recor	rding Wizard	×
Your Progress	Oreste a Test Oli	form a Decembra
🛶 Name	Create a Test Cil	p from a Recording
Think Times Match Targets	You will be guided through t existing targets, or creating new clip a name.	he steps necessary to create a test clip from a recording. Key to this process is matching new targets, to be used by the messages coming from the recording. Start by giving the
Create New Targets		
Create Pages	Create the Clip using:	 All 111 messages The filtered messages (107 of 111 messages)
Create Test Clip	Clip Name:	O The selected message (1 of 111 messages) SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip
Summary	Clip Location:	/ Browse
	Clip Timing:	Sequenced Manually timed Events timed
	Auto-name messages Enabling this feature w	Il name messages from the end portion of their relative URLs instead of by number.
	Cancel	Back Next

7. Select the messages you want to include in the test clip. Leave "The filtered messages" selected for this tutorial.

You can choose to create the test clip using:

- All *X* messages (in the screenshot above there are 111). Note that the number of filtered messages as well as total messages may vary from that shown above.
- The filtered messages, if filters were used. In the screenshot above 107 of 111 messages were included by using the filter "Host Name > Contains > soastastore.com". This second option is the default selection whenever filtering has been applied.
- The selected messages, if a manual selection of requests was made in the recording.
- 8. Select a clip timing type from among the following options. For this exercise, leave the default *Sequenced* selected.
 - Sequenced

In a Sequenced clip, CloudTest sends request/page #1 in a test clip and request/page #2 isn't sent until a response to #1 is returned. This is the default selection for test clips created in SOASTA CloudTest and the clip type used by most CloudTest users.

• Manually Timed

In a Manually Timed clip, you can specify down to the millisecond (ms) when a specific message is sent. Responses are not required before the next request is sent. For Manually Timed clips, an additional option to "Detect and insert bursts" appears. In the context of recording conversion, "bursting" is a series of messages that are probably due to a single event. For instance, a web page that loaded with 17 requests (for images, CSS, JavaScript files). Bursting isn't applicable for non-manual timing types. Most CloudTest users do not use manually timed clips.

• Evenly Timed

In an Evenly Timed clip, whenever the test clip is resized in the SOASTA CloudTest Composition Editor, the test clip is re-timed (1 per second, 2 per second). The default is one message sent per second. Responses are not required before the next request is sent. Most CloudTest users do not use evenly timed clips.

- 9. If you'd like, rename the test clip. This tutorial will assume the default name was used.
- 10. Leave the default *Auto-name messages* selected. This option will name the messages created during the recording-to-clip conversion using the end portion of their respective relative URLs, rather than by number (e.g. if this box is unchecked the messages will be sequentially named, Message1, Message2, etc.).

- 11. Click Next. The Think Times step appears. Think times simulate natural pauses while user's pause or read the contents of a page. CloudTest automatically detects the think times in the recorded user scenario. The default 2000ms threshold defined on this step indicates that any gap in time longer than 2000ms (e.g. 2 seconds) will be considered a think time and inserted into the converted test clip.
- 12. In most cases, the default of 2000ms is appropriate, so typically this value is left unchanged by CloudTest users. Note, however, that if the site you recorded was slow and there were gaps longer than 2 seconds while the page was loading, this will be considered a think time in the test clip—even though it technically wasn't a think time. You will be able to clean up these false think times during the test clip editing process. Additionally, the lengths of the default think times can be adjusted during test editing.

Create a Clip From Record	ding Wizard E
Your Progress	Think Times
Think Times Match Targets Create New Targets Create Pages Create Test Clip Summary	✓ Insert think times Think times are the natural pauses that occur when users view web sites. Check 'Insert think times' to include pauses in the generated clip as they are recorded. All think times can be edited later. Add think times when there is a gap in the recording greater than 2000 milliseconds.
	Cancel Back Next

13. Click Next. The Match Targets to Recording Messages step appears. Targets are pointers to the hostnames being tested and control how CloudTest interacts with those hosts (number of concurrent connections, timeout values, etc.). For more about targets in CloudTest, see *Target* in CloudLink.

For new users, the Available Targets list will appear empty and a status message appears at the bottom of this list to indicate that no matches (with existing targets) were found.

Create a Clip From Recor	ding Wizard		×
Your Progress Vame Think Times	Match Targets to Reco Select the targets that should be use We have already attempted to find th	rding Messages d in the clip. re closest matching targets.	
🛶 Match Targets	Available Targets	Selected Targets	×
Create New Targets Create Pages Create Test Clip Summary		⇒	
	Cancel		Back Next

• If any existing matching targets are detected, they are listed in the Selected Targets list on the right. If you want to remove any targets from the test, simply click the red X button next to the target you want removed and those targets will be filtered out when the test clip is created. If the targets do not exist, they will be created in the next step. 14. Click Next. The Create New Targets step appears. This step allows new targets to be reviewed one by one, and individually disabled (if a target is unchecked, the related target and its messages won't be created).

Your Progress Name	Create New Targets	New Targets
P Think Times	Create	Target Name (Hover to see the complete target URL)
P Match Targets	ĭ. International (1997)	www.soastastore.com
Create New Targets		
Create Pages		
Create Test Clip	Potential SO/	AP Targets
	Create	Target Name
		No SOAP targets need to be created.
	Binary SOAP	Endpoints (must enter a WSDL URL)
	Create	Target Name
		No binary SOAP targets need to be created.
	WSDL URL:	Арріу

15. Click Next. The Create Pages step appears.

16. Pages are groups of HTTP requests that enable CloudTest to simulate the order and timing of browser traffic. Pages can be either "static" or "dynamic".

Static pages use the same exact requests that were captured during the recording. Static pages are typically easier to get started with, as all the resources are listed and available for modification and/or deletion. Static pages are good to use on sites that are stable and not changing or if the tests clips have a limited life.

Dynamic pages make a request for the HTML page, parse the page, and dynamically extract the resources referenced in the page (e.g. CSS, images, JavaScript, etc.). Dynamic pages typically take more time to setup because additional filters need to be applied to each page to remove any 3rd party resource requests that aren't supposed to be played during the test (e.g. Google Analytics). Dynamic pages are good to use on sites that change frequently or when sites dynamically generate unique URLs each time the site is accessed (e.g. Drupal). Dynamic Pages are beyond the scope of this tutorial. Please reference CloudLink for more information.

For this tutorial, we will use static pages. Leave *Automatically create groups of Page requests* box checked. Click Next.

Create a Clip From Record	ing Wizard	×
Your Progress Your Progress Your Progress Your Progress Your Progress Create New Targets Create New Targets Create Pages	Create Pages Automatically create groups of Page requests Mark the first message in the page to dynamically retrieve its resources Remove the "static" resource messages from the page	
Create Test Clip Summary	Cancel	Back Next

The Create Test Clip step appears with summary information about the new test clip selections.

In the example below, the clip name CloudTest will create is *SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip*, think times are enabled at a two second threshold, timing is sequenced, pages are enabled, and one target will be created.

Create a Clip From Recor	ding Wizard	×
Your Progress ✓ Name ✓ Think Times ✓ Match Targets ✓ Create New Targets ✓ Create Pages	Create Test Clip Ready to begin the clip creation process. Review the details below and press "Next" when ready to create the clip. If there are any errors press the "Back" button to correct them. Clip Name: SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip Bursts: Not enabled	
Create Test Clip Summary	Think Times: Enabled, at a 2 second threshold. Timing: Sequenced Pages: Enabled Targets: www.soastastore.com	
	Cancel	Back Next

17. Click Next. The status indicator appears to track clip creation progress.

18. The wizard creates the clip and then displays the Summary page. Click Go to the Test Clip Editor to perform additional clip editing tasks, such as user-specific parameterization.

Create a Clip From Recon	ding Wizard	×
Your Progress Vame Think Times Match Targets Create New Targets	Summary Clip Name: SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip Targets: www.soastastore.com Messages: 107	
 ✓ Create Pages ✓ Create Test Clip 	Next Steps	
Summary	Go to the Session Template Package Wizard	Continue
	- Or - Go to the Test Composition Editor to play your new clip - Or -	Continue
	Go to the Test Clip Editor for additional clip editing	Continue
		Back Finish

19. The test clip is opened in the Clip Editor. The pages (and any other clip elements) are displayed in the center workspace, while the lower panel displays the default Messages/Actions tab with Available Targets and the Included Targets and Operations (not shown) lists to the right.



The first view shown above is called the "Icon" view. Clicking the plus icon on page will expand the Page so you can see the messages associated with that Page.



An alternative "List" view is available that shows each page request (or message) in a sequential view. The List view is a good way to edit tests as you have more visibility to the individual URLs the test is executing. To change to this view, click the View drop down, which shows the word Icon by default, (



The clip will now look like the screenshot below. Expand the pages to see the requests within that page by clicking the grey triangle to the left of the page name. The HTML Document portion of the page is separated from the Resources.

dTes	t [®] 📔 Central	Recordin46:43 AM C	SOASTAeply clip 🙆	[SOAS
5		R* B B	🗙 💿 🗸 📑 👻 List 👻 🐮 👻 🗮 🚥 🚥	
Name		Operation	Parameter 1 Parameter 2	
soast	astore.com			
HTML D	locument			
	soastastore.com	get	Ĩ.	
Resc	ources 🗹 Static 🗌 Dynamic			
	thickbox.css	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-come/wpsc-core/js/thickbox.css ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	compatibility.css	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/compatibility.css ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	style.css	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/style.css	
	product_rater.css	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-comsc-core/js/product_rater.css ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	style-weaver.css	get	/wp-content/uploads/weaver-subthemes/style-weaver.css	
	wpsc-default.css	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/wpsc-default.css ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	wp-e-commerce.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-cosc-core/js/wp-e-commerce.js ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	jquery.rating.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-compsc-core/js/jquery.rating.js ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	jquery.livequery.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-comadmin/js/jquery.livequery.js ver=1.0.3	
	user.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-commerce/wpsc-core/js/user.js ver=3.8.12.155f8cfa0d7	
	thickbox.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e-coce/wpsc-core/js/thickbox.js ver=Instinct_e-commerce	
	sf-forum.js	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple-foces/jscript/forum/sf-forum.js ver=3.5.2	
	comment-reply.min.js	get	/wp-includes/js/comment-reply.min.js ver=3.5.2	
	jquery.js	get	/wp-includes/js/jquery/jquery.js ver=1.8.3	
	index.php	get	/index.php wpsc_user_dynamic_js=true&ver=3.8.12.1.55f8cfa0d7	
	soastastorelogo.jpg	get	/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/soastastorelogo.jpg	
	dashboard.png	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/dashboard.png	

The messages, most of which are within pages in the new test clip, were created from the recorded HTTP requests, while delays were calculated from the recorded think times.

Recording Steps – Option 2

HTTP Recording can be performed into the Clip Editor without the necessity to then convert the recording to a test clip. Messages are created inline in the Clip Editor. The following steps detail how to start a recording session in the Clip Editor.

1. Locate and launch your SOASTA Conductor application. The SOASTA Conductor opens with the status "running" and the Conductor name in display.

The Mac OSX version of Conductor is shown below.



In Windows, the Conductor will appear in the System Tray. Make sure the icon has a gold color. Otherwise, the Conductor is not connected to the CloudTest server.

< 🐼 📴 🔣 🖶 💀 👘 🖵 🌗 12:59 PM

- 2. Login to CloudTest using Firefox or Chrome. For this tutorial, it is recommended that you use Firefox.
- 3. Go to Central list > Clip and then click New in the toolbar.

When you do so, the Clip Editor appears with a new Untitled Test Clip open. The Record button drop-down clearly indicates the button to use.

CloudTest® 🛛 🔚 Centra	J 🔚 Untitled Test Clip 🛛 🛇	[SOASTAentation / <u>SOASTA_DOC</u>]	About Logout SOASTA
			▼ List ▼ 🕘 ▼ 📵 ▼
Test Clip Builder Add Messages, Browse and/or Checkpoints by respective icons into th	e Operation Parameter 1 er Actions, Scripts, dragging those e workspace.	Record Click the Record drop-down to begin a mobile app or browser recording.	Target Name
Messages/Actions Scripts	Clips Properties Selected: non	e Results 💿 🔍 0:00:00.000 😵 0	(🗗 📮)

4. Click the Record drop-down button and choose the Record HTTP option.

C	loud	Test® 🛛 🔚 Central	Soasta Sheckou	t 🛞 🔲 Unt	titled Test Clip 🛛 💿	
				B		
		Name	Operation	Parameter 1	Record HTTP	
	Drag Mes	sages/Actions here			Record Mobile App	
					P Record Mobile Web	
					Record Browser	

5. The Choose a Conductor box appears. In the Available Conductors list, select the Conductor launched (in Step 1 above).

- 6. Ensure that your SOASTA Conductor status is "connected". If your SOASTA Conductor is not connected, the following steps will not work. Verify the Conductor connection settings and restart it.
- 7. Click the Record button in the Recording Options box. The Clip Editor should now be in listening mode, and ready to record.



The Record button is bright red when Recording is active and the Status Indicator (top right) confirms that recording has started.



- **Note:** When using this feature note that the clip is created as if it were recorded in the Recording Editor and then converted using the wizard conversion DEFAULTS. The underlying recording is still created and will be located in the Central > Recordings list.
- 1. Open <u>http://www.soastastore.com/</u> in the second browser.

SOA	STAS	TOR	?E				
Home Forum	Comment Stor	re Checko	out Your Acco	unt About SOAS	STA		
Scalable, <i>I</i>	Affordable	Testing	g of Web /	Apps			Search
Using SOAS	FAStore						Archives
This site is intende	d to provide a platfo	orm for learni	ng SOASTA's Clo	udTest. It is compris	sed of a number of p	lug-ins that	 September 2013
include a forum an illustrate new featu	d a simple product : rres in CloudTest.	store with a fe	ew books, DVDs a	nd CDs for purchase	. The site will chang	e over time to	Meta Register Log in
Elapsed Time 00:49:33.60 Start: 8:23:43 am	Message/Action Errors 1,226,333 of 2,685,085 - 45,672%	Script Errors 0 of 13,432 - 0%	Avg Response Time 2173 ms. Min: 1 ms. Max: 152992 ms.	Total Bytes S: 1 GB R: 9 GB	Effective Throughput 903 msgs/sec 3,299,560 bytes/sec. 26,396,476 bits/sec.	Virtual Users 10,000	About You = IP: 74.130.173.23 = Location:
Virtual Users vs.	Average Response Time		4.678s	nd Rate	. di	JI	 Browser: Safari Generic OS: MacOSX

2. Messages start to appear in the Clip Editor.



3. In the second browser, click the "Forum" link.



The Forum page appears.

oru	um			
	You must be logged in to	post 🤞	👌 Login 🤱 R	legister
	New/Re	cently Updated Topics 🕴	Select Forum	
	Support		2	Group RS
	Support Forums	Last Post	Topics	Group RS
	Support Forums Website Issues	Last Post June 22, 2011 12:37 pm by by e ~	Topics 2	Group RS Posts 2

The SOASTA Store user accounts below are used for this tutorial:

- testuser1 / soasta
- testuser2 / soasta
- testuser3 / soasta
- testuser4 / soasta
- testuser5 / soasta
- 4. Click the Login button with the key icon to the left of it (^{*A*} Login</sup>) and enter the credentials for the first user in the list above.

GUEST	You must be logged in to post	🙈 Login 🔱 Register
	Username: testuser1	
	Remember me	
	Register? Lost Your Password?	

5. Click the Login button.

Last Visit: June 24, 2011		Logged in as testuser1	🙈 Logout 🍰 Members 🔗 Profile			
	MEMBER	Last Visit: June 24, 2011	0 🛛 0 🔍 0 🖪			
New/Recently Updated Topics 🗘 Select Forum 🗘		New/Recen	tly Updated Topics 🗧 Select Forum 🗘			

Confirm the login was successful. You will see a "Logged in as ..." message.

6. Click the "Product Questions" link in the "Pre-Sales" Forum Group.

- 7. Click the "Add a New Topic" link.
- 8. Enter "Post 1" as the Topic Name.
- 9. Enter "This is sample text for Post 1." as the content for this post.
- 10. Click the "Post New Topic" button.
- 11. Click the "Reply to Post" link.
- 12. Enter "This is reply text for Post 1." As the content for this post.
- 13. Click the "Post New Reply" button.
- 14. Click the "Logout" link at the top of the page.
- 15. Return to the first browser, with the Clip Editor open, and click the Record button when you've finished your scenario. The Record button should no longer be lit.

Inspecting Your Recording in the Clip Editor

- 1. Once the recording is finished, review the HTTP(S) messages that were recorded into the Clip Editor and verify that the recording looks accurate and complete. When scrolling left or right, messages are dynamically loaded into the Clip Editor.
- 2. The pages (and any other clip elements) are displayed in the center workspace, while the lower panel displays the default Messages/Actions tab with Available Targets and the Included Targets and Operations (not shown) lists to the right.
 - **Note:** Message colors correspond to Content-Type. For a guide to content colors in CloudTest, see the CloudLink article, <u>Using the Recording</u><u>Editor</u>, *Icon Colors for Content Type* section.



Expand any collection in either Icon view or List view to view its contents.

sosste.com	Page: soestastore.com HTML Document Image: ger a ge	- (}
(135s. (a) Delay1	pastm (1) Delay2 wp-login.php coastm (2) Delay3 coastm (3) Delay4	

An alternative "List" view is available that shows each page request (or message) in a sequential view. The List view is a good way to edit tests as you have more visibility to the individual URLs the test is executing.. To change to this view, click the button with "Icon" word on it ([loon *]) and click "List" in the drop-down.



The clip will now look like the screenshot below. Expand the pages to see the requests within that page by clicking the grey triangle to the left of the page name. The HTML Document portion of the page is separated from the Resources.

Clo	bud	lTest 🖌	E Central 🔍 💿 SOASTAd Reply	3) 🔲 s	OASTAeply clip 💿		[Robert Holcomb / SOA
1		A	1 🝙 🝙 🔮 🗄 🛛	- 		18 🛛 🔊 🕴	50 🔻 List 🔻 🐌 🐌 🐌 🌘 🗭
		A Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
7	/ 🔳	<u>A</u>	soastastore.com				
	HTM	IL Document					
		a	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1
	F	Resources 🗹 S	Static 📃 Dynamic				
		0	style.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/style.css
		0	thickbox.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpc-core/js/thickbox.css ver=3.8.4.391083
		a	product_rater.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/product_rater.css ver=3.8.4.391083
		a	compatibility.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpheme/compatibility.css ver=3.8.4.391083
		a	I10n.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-includes/js/l10n.js ver=20101110
		8	wpsc-default.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/201aver/wpsc-default.css ver=3.8.4.391083
		8	jquery.infieldlabel.min.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-eery.infieldlabel.min.js ver=3.8.4.391083
		a	ajax.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/wpsc-core/js/ajax.js ver=3.8.4.391083
		8	wp-e-commerce.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/wp-e-commerce.js ver=3.8.4.391083
		8	jquery.livequery.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e/js/jquery.livequery.js ver=1.0.3
		8	favicon.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/favicon.gif
	2	8	Delay1				37597 ms.
1	•	8	soastastore.com (1)				
		A	Delav2				20252 ms.

The messages, most of which are within pages in the new test clip, were created from the recorded HTTP requests, while delays were calculated from the recorded think times.

3. Click the Message/Actions tab in the lower left-hand corner. In the center column of this tab, all the targets created for this scenario are listed. Remove a target by right clicking on the target and selecting 'Remove Target'. All targets except 'www.soastastore.com' should be removed.



Most tests include unique session data (e.g. a login that creates a session or uses a token). The dynamic data values must be (replaced) before the test can succeed. The additional clip-editing steps in the next section will configure the test clip to extract dynamic session data, replace it with a custom clip property, and then use that property to place updated session data into the test at runtime.

Learn More

The example test clip above is comprised of three types of clip elements—pages, messages, and delays. Refer to the CloudLink, <u>KnowledgeBase</u>, *Introduction* section for more about clip elements and other CloudTest basics.

Using the Session Template Package Wizard

Now that a test clip has been created from the recording, the next step is to identify and substitute dynamic properties for those messages that require unique session data (e.g. parameters). In this section we will utilize the Session Template Package Wizard, which creates a re-usable "Package" that can be applied to other tests that use the same name/value pairs.

The Session Template Package Wizard uses a clip scanning method to search for potential name/value pairs that might be dynamic in the test. When the scan is complete, it provides a list of possible values to replace. Data can be extracted in the wizard using SubString parsing, XPath, by creating a new inline script, or by using an existing script.

The Session Template Package Wizard can be started from within the clip itself (as described below), or you can right-click on a clip in the clip list in SOASTA Central and choose to start the wizard from there. If starting the wizard from the clip list, make sure the clip is not open, as it will be considered locked if you don't close it first.

1. Click the Session Template drop-down menu in the top right of the Clip Editor and then choose the Launch Session Template Package Wizard command.



1		1 0 1	- I	D 1	1	
Whon y		the Section	Tomplato	Dackago	Wizard	annoarc
VVIICII	vou uo so,			I alhage	vv izai u	appears.
	, ,		1	0		11

Name:			Descriptio	n:				Scan	Clip
Location: /		Browse							
nclude: 🗹 Headers 🛛 🗹 E	Envelope		Exclude:	Values	shorter than 2	characters			
POST Data 🗹 🗘	Query String Params	Location		✓ Names: ✓ Values:	Accept,Accept- true, false, on, o	Encoding, Acce off, null, undefir	ept-Language, Ca		
ession Templates will be cre	ated for every selecte	d item.						Show Checked	i Items O
		and a second		11.11.1	Province and a contract				
Name Name	Value		Found in Respo	nse Typ	e Used in Re	equest(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retrieva	I Method
1 Name	Value		Found in Respor	nse Typ	e Used in R	equest(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retrieva	I Method

- 1. First, give the session template package a name. For example, *SOASTA Store Session Template Package*.
- 2. Optionally, use the Browse button to specify the *SOASTA Tutorial* folder created above as the location where the Package should be saved.
- 3. Leave the Include/Exclude fields all checked. For more information about these fields, refer to *Session Template Packages* in CloudLink.
- 4. Leave the Backup Clip checkbox on the lower left checked. This ensures that the original test clip will be backed up.
Scanning a Clip for Values to Replace

In the following steps, the Clip Scanner will parse the clip in search of matching name/value pairs.

1. Click the Scan Clip button in the upper-right corner of the wizard.

The Scan Clip button becomes inactive and the scan begins. After the clip is scanned, the scan button automatically becomes re-enabled if the Include or Exclude options are changed. Scan progress is indicated by the green progress bar. Rows begin to appear as the scan progresses.

Once the scan is complete, the results are listed in the table below. Additionally, the green checkmark appears, and the table below is populated with name/value pairs the wizard thinks might need to be replaced. Some rows may appear before the scan completes.

Lo	Name: SOASTA	Store Session Template Package	Description:			1.	Scan	Clip
clude	Headers 🗹	Envelope Query String Params 🗹 Location	Exclude:	Values shor	rter than 2 characte	rs ccept-Language, Ca		
p scar	Use custom de	limiters Entire URL	REST	Values: tr	ue, false, on, off, null, und	efined		
ssion	Templates will be on Name	reated for every selected item. Value	Found in Response	Type	Used in Request(s)	Property Name	Show Checker	d Items al Metho
. 0	Referer	http://www.soastastore.com/	soastastore.com (7)	Header	style.css (+21)	Referer	SubString	
	ver	3.8.4.391083	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	thickbox.css (+9)	ver	SubString	=
	ver	20101110	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	I10n.js	ver	SubString	
	ver	1.0.3	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	jquery.livequery.js	ver	SubString	•
- Annual 1	ver	1.4.4	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	jquery.js	ver	SubString	
		3.8.4391083	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	user.js	ver	SubString	
	Ver		soastastore.com (7)	HTML	thickbox.js	ver	SubString	•
	ver	Instinct_e-commerce					SubString	
	ver ver	Instinct_e-commerce 20090102	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	comment-reply.js	ver		
	ver ver ver	Instinct_e-commerce 20090102 3.1.4	soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7)	HTML HTML	comment-reply.js sf-forum.js (+5)	ver ver	SubString	•
	ver ver ver page_id	Instinct_e-commerce 20090102 3.1.4 167	soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7)	HTML HTML HTML	comment-reply.js sf-forum.js (+5) soastastcom (8) (+2)	ver ver page_id	SubString SubString	
	ver ver ver page_id Referer	Instinct_e-commerce 20090102 3.1.4 167 http://www.soastascom/?page_id=1	soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (8)	HTML HTML HTML HTML	comment-reply.js sf-forum.js (+5) soastastcom (8) (+2) jquery.jqprint.js (+32)	ver ver page_id Referer	SubString SubString XPath	
	ver ver ver page_id Referer log	Instinct_e-commerce 20090102 3.1.4 167 http://www.soastascom/?page_id=1 testuser1	soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (7) soastastore.com (8) soastastore.com (8)	HTML HTML HTML HTML HTML	comment-reply.js sf-forum.js (+5) soastastcom (8) (+2) jquery.jqprint.js (+32) wp-login.php (2)	ver ver page_id Referer log	SubString SubString XPath XPath	

At this point, you will have to use your understanding of the application you are testing to determine which of these identified name/value pairs you need to replace in your test. Sometimes it is clear—sometimes it isn't. Experience will help you determine which of these values need to be replaced.

The scan of the clip normally returns lots of potential name/value pairs that aren't needed for the test to run correctly. If you aren't certain which values to replace, just do the ones you think are likely, play the test back and see what happens. If the test isn't working correctly, re-scan the test clip in the Session Template Package Wizard and replace additional name/value pairs.

The wizard allows you to configure multiple session templates at the same time. Just check the box to the left of the identified name/value pair and start the process for each session template. Let's walk through a couple examples that utilize the SubString parser and XPath to extract the dynamic values.

Configure session templates (SubString Parser and XPath)

Three name/value pairs from the response will be replaced in this section of the tutorial: *_wpnonce, forum-userform_addtopic,* and *forum-userform_addpost.* Let's look first at the *_wpnonce* name/value pair.

	Name	Value	Found in Response	Туре	Used in Request(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retrieva	al Meth	od
	forumslug	product-questions	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	forumslug	XPath	•	/
	newtopicname	Post+1	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopicname	SubString	•	1
	sf_ahah	post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	sf_ahah	XPath	•	7
	page_id	167/product-questions/post-1/	index.php (4)	Header	soastastom (11) (+1)	page_id	SubString	•	7
	Referer	http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	sf-post.css (+20)	Referer	XPath	•	7
	topicslug	post-1	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	topicslug	XPath	•	7
	forum-usem_addpost	f783224f8a	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	forum-userform_addpost	XPath	•	7
	postitem	This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1.	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (5)	postitem	SubString	•	7
	newpost	Saving+Post	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	newpost	SubString	•	r 🔟
	If-Modified-Since	Fri, 01 Jul 2011 15:38:04 GMT	jcookie.js	Header	soastastore.com (12)	If-Modified-Since	SubString	•	7
	_wpnonce	a3497f05a7	soastastore.com (12)	HTML	wp-login.php (3)	_wpnonce	SubString	•	7
▶□	action	logout	soastastore.com (12)	HTML	wp-login.php (3)	action	SubString	•	r U
▶□	redirect_to	http%3A%2F%2Fww3Fpage_id%3D167	soastastore.com (12)	HTML	wp-login.php (3)	redirect_to	SubString	•	

1. Locate the row for the name _*wpnonce*.

Note the suggested Value Retrieval Method, which in this case is SubString. Depending on your application, you can choose either SubString, XPath, or script to extract the value from the response.

- **Note:** XML Path Language, or XPath, is a method for selection within a document. Using XPath can be challenging in cases where a URL frequently changes, since the slightest change to the HTML code for that URL will render the XPath obsolete. SOASTA recommends using SubString whenever possible and XPath in cases where the page structure doesn't change much from test run to test run.
- 2. Click the checkbox to the left of the *_wpnonce* name to configure the SubString extraction method.

When you do so, the SubString Parser dialog box appears with the value of *_wpnonce* highlighted in orange in the top section.

<pre>:ions&user=2&displayname=testuser1' :.com%2F%3Fpage_id%3D167&_wpnonce=a3497ff('plugins/simple-forum/styles/icons/default/me 'plugins/simple-forum/styles/icons/default/n 'a</pre>	<pre>" onclick="return hs.htmlExpand(this, { ot 95a7"><img alt="" src="http://www.soastastore.com
embers-display.png" title="Profile"/> Prof</pre>
elect the parameters to be used for finding the value in the a	above response content.
Leading Text:	Insert Selected
Trailing Text:	Insert Selected
Value Length:	Insert Selected
End of Text	
Test Result:	Test
Use Regular expression	

2. This interface is used to define how CloudTest identifies the substring that needs to be extracted. Use the mouse to highlight the leading text before the highlighted value and click the Insert Selected button on the Leading Text row. In this case, highlight_wpnonce=. This defines the string on the left side of the value that needs to be extracted.

SubString Parser		
tions&use e.com%2F%3Fpag /plugins/simpl /nlugins/simpl	r=2&displayname=testuser1" on e_id%3D167& <mark>_wpnonce=a3497f05a7</mark> e-forum/styles/icons/default/membe e-forum/styles/icons/default/orofi ars to be used for finding the value in the above	<pre>click="return hs.htmlExpand(this, { ot '><img alt="" src="http://www.soastastore.com
rs-display.png" title="Profile"/> Prof response content</pre>
Leading Text:	_wpnonce=	Insert Selected
O Trailing Text:		Insert Selected
O Value Length:		Insert Selected
• End of Text		
Test Result:		Test
Use Regular ex	pression	
		OK Cancel

3. Use the mouse to highlight the string to the right of the highlighted value that you want to extract. In this case, just use the double-quote string as the trailing text. Again, use your best judgment about what the trailing text should be, but try to use as short a string as possible. With the string highlighted, click the Insert Selected button on the Trailing Text row. Note that you can also type the leading and trailing text values directly into the text boxes—rather than highlighting them with the mouse.

SubString Parser		
tions&use e.com%2F%3Fpag /plugins/simp /nlugins/simp Select the paramet	r=2&displayname=testuser1" oncl e_id%3D167&_wpnonce=a3497f05a7"> e-forum/styles/icons/default/members e-forum/styles/icons/default/profile ers to be used for finding the value in the above m	<pre>ick="return hs.htmlExpand(this, { ot <img alt="" src="http://www.soastastore.com
display.png" title="Profile"/> Prof esponse content.</pre>
Leading Text:	_wpnonce=	Insert Selected
Trailing Text:	er berne E	Insert Selected
Value Length:		Insert Selected
C End of Text		
Test Result:		Test
Use Regular e:	pression	OK

4. Click the Test button and ensure that the Test Result shown matches that of the highlighted token value as shown below.

tions&use e.com%2F%3Fpag /plugins/simpl /plugins/simpl	r=2&displayname=testuser1" onc e_id%3D167&_wpnonce=a3497f05a7" e-forum/styles/icons/default/member e-forum/styles/icons/default/profil/	lick="return hs.htmlExpand(this, { ot > <img alt="" src="http://www.soastastore.com
s-display.png" title="Profile"/> Prof
Select the naramet	ers to be used for finding the value in the above o) >
Leading Text:	_wpnonce=	Insert Selected
• Trailing Text:	*	Insert Selected
Value Length:		Insert Selected
End of Text		
Test Result:	a3497f05a7	Test
Use Regular ex	pression	
		OK Cancel

- 5. Click OK to exit the SubString Parser. Note that the *_wpnonce* row is now checked and that the specified value retrieval method is SubString Parser. The *_wpnonce* session template configuration is now complete.
- 6. Next, let's configure the *forum-userform_addtopic* session template. In this case, CloudTest has determined that this value can be extracted via XPath (as shown in the suggested Value Retrieval Method column).

	Name	Value	Found in Response	Туре	Used in Request(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retriev	al Meth	bor
	forum-useraddtopic	e13e30fba4	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	forum-userform_addtopic	XPath	•	2 🔺
▶⊟	newtopic	Saving+Post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopic	SubString	+	1
	forumslug	product-questions	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	forumslug	XPath	+	2
	newtopicname	Post+1	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopicname	SubString	•	2
▶⊟	sf_ahah	post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	sf_ahah	XPath	•	2
▶⊟	page_id	167/product-questions/post-1/	index.php (4)	Header	soastastom (11) (+1)	page_id	SubString	•	2
▶⊟	Referer	http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	sf-post.css (+20)	Referer	XPath	•	2
► ⊟	topicslug	post-1	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	topicslug	XPath	•	2 n
► ⊟	forum-usem_addpost	f783224f8a	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	forum-userform_addpost	XPath	•	2
► ⊟	postitem	This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1.	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (5)	postitem	SubString	•	2
► ⊟	newpost	Saving+Post	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	newpost	SubString	•	2 📙
	If-Modified-Since	Fri, 01 Jul 2011 15:38:04 GMT	jcookie.js	Header	soastastore.com (12)	If-Modified-Since	SubString	•	1
▶ ☑	_wpnonce	a3497f05a7	soastastore.com (12)	HTML	wp-login.php (3)	_wpnonce	SubString	+	1

7. Click the checkbox next to the *forum-userform_addtopic* name. Then, click the icon next to XPath on the *forum-userform_addtopic* line. This will open the XPath Editor.

Path Editor	
to: Product Questions mcontent" action="http://www.soastastore.com/index.php?sf_ahah=post" method="pos wame="forum-userform_addtopic" value="el3e30fba4" /> wame="forumid" value="4" /> wame="forumsluo"_value="product-questions" />	t" ic
[local-name()='HTML']/[local-name()='BODY']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV'][2]/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='INPUT'][1]/@val [5]/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()=' <u>FIELDSET'</u>]/*[local-name()='FORM']/*[local-name()='INPUT'][1]/@val	DIV] V] ue
Test Result:	est Cancel

8. Click the Test button to confirm the XPath extraction works correctly. Verify the Test Result matches the highlighted value above.

XPath Editor						
to: <strong: rmcontent" a: name="forum- name="forum: name="forums</strong: 	>Product Questi ction="http://w userform_addtop d" value="4" /> lug"_value="prov	onsww.soastastore. ic" value="el3e duct-questions"	egend> com/index.ph <mark>30fba4</mark> " /> />	p?sf_ahah=post	t" method="po	st" ic
[local-name()= [1]/[local-name [5]/*[local-name	HTML']/*[local-name ()='DIV']/*[local-name ()='DIV']/*[local-name	e()='BODY']/*[local-n e()='DIV'][1]/*[local-r e()=' <u>FIELDSET'</u>]/*[lo	ame()='DIV']/*[lo name()='DIV']/*[lo cal-name()='FOF	cal-name()='DIV'][2 cal-name()='DIV']/ RM']/*[local-name()	2]/*[local-name()= *[local-name()='D ='INPUT'][1]/@va	'DIV'] IV'] ilue
Test Result:	e13e30fba4					//. Test
					ОК	Cancel

9. Depending on your application, it may be necessary to update the default XPath that CloudTest generates. If you edit the XPath, make sure to click the Test button to confirm it is working correctly.

10. Click OK to close the XPath Editor.

	Name: SOASTA Store S	ession Template Package	Description:				Scan Clip
L	ocation: /	Browse	<u></u>			1.	
nclude	: 🗹 Headers 🛛 🗹 Enve	ope	Exclude: 🗹	alues shor	ter than 2 character	rs	
	POST Data 🗹 Quen	String Params 🗹 Location		ames: A	ccept,Accept-Encoding, A	ccept-Language, Ca	
	Use custom delimiters		т 🗹 🗸	/alues: tru	ue, false, on, off, null, unde	efined	
0.000	n complete. (36 name/vali	e pairs found)					
ession	Templates will be created	for every selected item.					Show Checked Items
	Name	Value	Found in Response	Туре	Used in Request(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retrieval Metho
•	forum-useraddtopic	e13e30fba4	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	forum-userform_addtopic	XPath 🗘 📝
	newtopic	Saving+Post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopic	SubString
	forumslug	product-questions	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	forumslug	XPath 🛟 📝
	newtopicname	Post+1	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopicname	SubString 🛟 📝
				LITAN	index php (4) (+1)	sf ahah	XPath 💙 🍞
	sf_ahah	post	soastastore.com (10)	FILML	1. downprip (1) (1)	-	
	sf_ahah page_id	post 167/product-questions/post-1/	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4)	Header	soastastom (11) (+1)	page_id	SubString 😫 🏏
	sf_ahah page_id Referer	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11)	Header	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20)	page_id Referer	SubString 🔹 📝 XPath 🔹 🍸
	sf_ahah page_id Referer topicslug	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/ post-1	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11)	Header HTML HTML	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20) index.php (5)	page_id Referer topicslug	SubString Image: Constraint of the second
	sf_ahah page_id Referer topicslug forum-usem_addpost	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/ post-1 1783224f8a	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11)	HTML Header HTML HTML HTML	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20) index.php (5) index.php (5)	page_id Referer topicslug forum-userform_addpost	SubString Image: Constraint of the second
	sf_ahah page_id Referer topicslug forum-usem_addpost postitem	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/ post-1 1783224f8a This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1.	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11)	HTML Header HTML HTML HTML	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20) index.php (5) index.php (5) index.php (5)	page_id Referer topicslug forum-userform_addpost postitem	SubString Image: Constraint of the second
	sf_ahah page_id Referer topicslug forum-usem_addpost postitem newpost	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/ post-1 1783224f8a This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1. Saving+Post	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (10) soastastore.com (11)	HTML Header HTML HTML HTML HTML	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20) index.php (5) index.php (5) index.php (5) index.php (5)	page_id Referer topicslug forum-userform_addpost postitem newpost	SubString • XPath • XPath • XPath • SubString • SubString •
	sf_ahah page_id Referer topicslug forum-usem_addpost postitem newpost If-Modified-Since	post 167/product-questions/post-1/ http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/ post-1 1783224f8a This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1. Saving+Post Fri, 01 Jul 2011 15:38:04 GMT	soastastore.com (10) index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (11) soastastore.com (10) soastastore.com (11) jcookie.js	HTML Header HTML HTML HTML HTML HEader	soastastom (11) (+1) sf-post.css (+20) index.php (5) index.php (5) index.php (5) soastastore.com (12)	page_id Referer topicslug forum-userform_addpost postitem newpost If-Modified-Since	SubString * XPath * XPath * XPath * SubString * SubString * SubString *

- 11. The *forum-userform_addtopic* session template is now configured.
- 12. Repeat the XPath configuration process for the *forum-userform_addpost* session template.

13. Once you have all three session templates configured, all should be checked in the Session Template Package Wizard interface.

	Name: SOASTA Store S	ession Template Package	Description:				Sca	n Clip	1
L	ocation: /	Browse	»			1.			
nclude	: 🗹 Headers 🛛 🗹 Envel	ope	Exclude: 🗹	/alues shor	ter than 2 character	rs	V		
	POST Data Quen	String Params V Location		Names: A	ccept,Accept-Encoding, A	ccept-Language, Ca			
	Use custom delimiters		т 🗖 \	/alues: tr	ue, false, on, off, null, unde	efined			
ip sca	n complete. (36 name/valu	e pairs found)							
ssion	Templates will be created Name	for every selected item. Value	Found in Response	Type	Used in Request(s)	Property Name	Show Check	ed Iter val Me	ns (tho
	forum-useraddtopic	e13e30fba4	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	forum-userform_addtopic	XPath	\$	
	newtopic	Saving+Post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopic	SubString	\$	D
	forumslug	product-questions	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	forumslug	XPath	\$	
	newtopicname	Post+1	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	newtopicname	SubString	\$	V
	sf_ahah	post	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4) (+1)	sf_ahah	XPath	\$	
	page_id	167/product-questions/post-1/	index.php (4)	Header	soastastom (11) (+1)	page_id	SubString	\$	
	Referer	http://www.soastastoct-questions/post-1/	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	sf-post.css (+20)	Referer	XPath	÷	1
	topicslug	post-1	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	topicslug	XPath	\$	Z
	forum-usem_addpost	f783224f8a	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	forum-userform_addpost	XPath	\$	
		This+is+reply+text+for+Post+1.	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (5)	postitem	SubString	+	V
	postitem		soastastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	newpost	SubString	\$	1
	postitem newpost	Saving+Post							
	postitem newpost If-Modified-Since	Saving+Post Fri, 01 Jul 2011 15:38:04 GMT	jcookie.js	Header	soastastore.com (12)	If-Modified-Since	SubString	\$	1

14. Click the Apply button to apply the session templates to the test clip. This step creates the required properties (variables) in the test clip, inserts property sets to extract the dynamic data, and substitutes the property string into all the places where the previously-static strings were. The wizard filters the list to checked items only and applies those values. The green status bar indicates progress and once completed, the green checkmark icon appears.

Header POST C Use cus use cus use cus pply complete. on Templates w Name forum-use forum-use	s Envelope Data Query String Paran tom delimiters	ns 🗹 Location Centire URL CREST cted item.	Exclude: 🕑	Values short Names: Ac Values: tru	er than 2 character cept,Accept-Encoding, Ac e, false, on, off, null, unde	s ccept-Language, Ce ffined	Show Check		
Use cus pply complete. on Templates v Name forum-use	tom delimiters	Cted item.	Vund in Perspasse	Values: tru	e, false, on, off, null, unde	fined	Show Check		
on Templates v ✓ Name ✓ forum-use ✓ forum-use	vill be created for every sele Value r addtopic e13e30fba4	cted item.	und in Response			F	Show Check		
forum-use	r addtopic e13e30fba4		Juliu III Reaponae	Туре	Used in Request(s) 🔺	Property Name	Value Retrie	val M	ms (etho
forum-use		SO	astastore.com (10)	HTML	index.php (4)	forum-userform_addtopic	XPath	Å.	V
	m_addpost f783224f8a	SO	astastore.com (11)	HTML	index.php (5)	forum-userform_addpost	XPath	Å. V	2
_wphones	1949110347	50	astasiore.com (12)	HIML	wp-login.pnp (3)	_wphonce	autounig	·	

15. Click OK to exit the Session Template Package Wizard. This step creates the Session Template Package. For more information, search for "Session Template" in CloudLink.

Inspecting Applied Session Template Values

Now that the test clip has had the session templates applied, let's review the changes that were made to the clip by the wizard and inspect the applied template value.

1. Click the Properties tab in the lower panel of the Clip Editor

Messages/Actions Scripts Clips P	roperties Select	ed: none Results 0:00:00:00.000 0 0
Property Type	Clip Custom Pro	perties
Clip Custom Properties	Property name:	_wpnonce
Clip Properties Delays	Value type	Constant
Page Resource Settings		
Applied Session Templates & Packages		li.
	Property name:	formuna formulational
	Property name.	torum-userform_addpost
	Value type	Constant \$
	Property name:	forum-userform_addtopic 🕂 🕂

The custom properties have assumed the names extracted from the SOASTA Store site, which was identified in the Session Template Package Wizard above.

2. Click the Applied Session Templates & Packages node in the Property Type list.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties	Selected: none Results (00:00:00.000 😵 0						
Property Type	Name						
Clip Custom Properties	SOASTA Store Session Template Package						
Clip Properties							
Delays							
Page Resource Settings							
Packages & Packages							
	1						

3. The SOASTA Store Session Template Package appears in the Name list on the right. Click its arrow to expand the session templates within the package.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties	Selected: none Results (00:00:00.000 😵 0						
Property Type	Name						
Clip Custom Properties	SOASTA Store Session Template Package						
Clip Properties	forum-userform_addtopic						
Delays	forum-userform_addpost						
Page Resource Settings	Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl						
Applied Session Templates & Packages							

- **Note:** The session template names correspond to the fields upon which they were based and also correspond to the automatically created custom clip properties.
- 4. Click the *forum-userform_addtopic* item in the expanded session template.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties	Selected: none Results 💿 🕑 00:00:00.000 😵 0					
Property Type	Name					
Clip Custom Properties	SOASTA Store Session Template Package					
Clip Properties	forum-userform_addtopic					
Delays	forum-userform_addpost					
Page Resource Settings	💩 _wpnonce					
Applied Session Templates & Packages						

5. Review its Summary details on the far right pane. Note that the retrieval variable value method and XPath match the methods and selections used above.

Summary	
Applied by:	rholcomb@soasta.com on Sun Jul 03 15:24:42 PDT 2011
Retrieve variable value method: Xpath:	XPATH *[local-name()='HTML']/*[local-name()='BODY']/*[local- name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV'][2]/*[local-name()='DIV'] [1]/*[local-name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='DIV'][1]/*[local- name()='DIV']/*[local-name()='FIELDSET']/*[local- name()='FORM']/*[local-name()='INPUT'][1]/@value
Message extracted from: Message(s) applied with ISSEs:	soastastore.com (10) Highlight index.php (4)
Property Path: Path Type:	forum-userform_addtopic clip

The Summary identifies the first message from which the value was extracted and also any subsequent messages to which the value was applied by the use of a property path.

6. Click the Highlight button. CloudTest changes the workspace display to show those messages that the value was extracted from and to which it was applied.

In List view, pages appear as shown below.

Clo	bud	Test 🖌	E Central SOASTAeply clip				[Robert Ho	olcomb / SOASTA - Rob] About Logout	SOASTA
1					1 - 18		50 🔻 List 👻 🐌 🖄 🐌 🏓	a 🔹 🔹 🚥 🔹	×-
		≙ ♀	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation			
	нтм	L Document							
		8	soastastore.com (10)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1	page_id=167/product-questions/	
	 <i>∎</i> R	lesources 🗹 S	tatic 🔲 Dynamic						
		8	htmlEditor.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple-f/editors/html/htmlEditor.js		
		8	htmlEditor.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple-feditors/html/htmlEditor.cs	s	
		8	topickey.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple-f/icons/default/topickey.pn	g	
		8	user-permissions.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simplefault/user-permissions.png	9	
		8	addtopic.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple/icons/default/addtopic.pn	g	
		8	topickeyuser.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simples/default/topickeyuser.png	1	
		8	small-tag.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simpleicons/default/small-tag.pn	g	
		8	small-tools.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simpleons/default/small-tools.pn	g	
		8	topicuser.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simpleicons/default/topicuser.png	9	
		8	htmlEditor.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simple-f/editors/html/htmlEditor.gi	If .	
		8	Delay4				15171 ms.		
V	7 🔳	8	index.php						_
	HTM	L Document							
		8	index.php (4)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	post	/index.php	sf_ahah=post	
		esources 🗹 S	tatic Dynamic						Ť

The first page shown above contains the message highlighted in green, *soastastore.com* (10). This message is the "HTML Document" (or main message) of its page. This is the message where the *forum-userform_addtopic* value is extracted.

The second page shown above, *index.php*, contains the message highlighted in yellow, *index.php* (4). This message is the HTML Document of its page.

7. Double click the *index.php (4)* POST message in the expanded page to open it in the lower panel.

\neg		8	index.php							
HTML Document										
		a	index.php (4)	н	TML	www.soastastore.com	post /index.php			
	⊠ R	esources 🗹 St	atic 🔲 Dynamic							
_	-			_						
/ Mes	sages	Actions Sc	ripts Properties Selected: index.php	o (4)	Result	ts \ 😥 © 00:00:0	0.000 🕲 0			
J.	- inde	v obo (4)								
1	> нтт	P Request He	aders		Operation: post					
▼<	> Inpu	ıts			URI	Values	(index php			
	 () 	JRL Values					sf_ahah=post			
	\diamond	Query String			Que	ry String				
Oata					Date		forum uporform additionia (12/0/ prop.) magaging i forum uporform additionia (
Recorded Request A Request Headers			Data	1	forum-useriorm_addiopic={%% prop : messagecip : forum-useriorm_addiopic 5					
			_			torumsiug=product-questions&newtopicname=Post+1&postitem=This+is+samp				
	- 🏠 F	Request Conte	nt							

The message opens in a new tab in the lower panel (e.g. *Selected: index.php (4)*).

8. Verify that the wizard replaced the appropriate string with the property path for *forum-userform_addtopic* (shown below).

Dperation: post						
URL Values	/index.php					
Over String						
Query String	st_anan=post					
Data	forum-userform_addtopic={%% prop : messageclip : forum-userform_addtopic %%}&forumid=4& forumslug=product-questions&newtopicname=Post+1&postitem=This+is+sample+text+for+Post+1&topictags=& newtopic=Saving+Post					

Pre-test Page validation

Verify Pages are grouped correctly

If the "Create Pages" checkbox was selected in the Convert to Clip wizard or in the Clip Editor, Recording Options box, the HTTP requests in your test clip have been grouped into Pages. Page creation is done based on the page referrer header and other rules. In most cases, the Pages pretty closely match the logical pages a user experiences while navigating the application being tested. In some applications that have non-standard referrer headers, unique AJAX calls, and other custom infrastructures, these pages may not match the way a user perceives pages in the application being tested. If that's the case, you will need to modify the pages that were created during the conversion process.

The tutorial test clip looks something like this:

Clo	ud	Test	E Central SOASTAeply clip				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA
	-	2 1			1 - 18		50 - List - 🚺 🐌 🕲 🐿
		₽ Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
►		8	soastastore.com				
		8	favicon.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/favicon.gif
	2	8	Delay1				37597 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (1)				
	2	8	Delay2				20252 ms.
		8	wp-login.php				
		8	soastastore.com (2)				
	2	8	Delay3				13144 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (3)				
		a	Delay4				15171 ms.
		8	index.php				
		8	soastastore.com (4)				
		<u>a</u>	Delay5				19107 ms.
		8	index.php (1)				
		8	soastastore.com (5)				

If you expand each page and look at the HTML Document and Resources, you will notice that the pages are generally pretty accurate in this recording. They correspond to each of the clicks and interactions we had when recording against SOASTA Store. However, one request, favicon.gif, might not be in a page (depending upon with browser you used to record). This should be included in the first page. We will include this request in the first page by dragging that request into the page as follows.

1. Expand the first page, likely named *soastastore.com*.

Clo	ud	Test 🥫	🔚 Central 🛛 🔲 SOASTAeply clip 📀				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA
	-	1			1 - 18		50 🔻 List 🔻 🐌 🐌 🐌 🐌
		A Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
$\neg \forall$		<u>A</u>	soastastore.com				
	HTM	L Document					
		8	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1
	R	lesources 🗹 Sta	atic 🔲 Dynamic				
		<u>a</u>	style.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/style.css
		8	thickbox.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpc-core/js/thickbox.css v
		8	product_rater.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/product_rater.css v
		8	compatibility.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpheme/compatibility.css v
		8	l10n.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-includes/js/l10n.js v
		8	wpsc-default.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/201aver/wpsc-default.css v
		8	jquery.infieldlabel.min.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-eery.infieldlabel.min.js v
		8	ajax.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/wpsc-core/js/ajax.js v
		8	wp-e-commerce.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/wp-e-commerce.js v
		8	jquery.livequery.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e/js/jquery.livequery.js v
		8	favicon.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/favicon.gif

2. In the expanded Page area, you will see an "HTML Document" section and a "Resources" section. The HTML document is the main HTML page that is being called. You don't want to put the resource there (nor can you—a page can only have one HTML document). We want to put the favicon.gif request inside the Resources section. To do this, scroll to the bottom of the Resources section. You will see the small vertical grey bar (scroll bar) on the left side of the Resources section.

Clo	ud	Test 🖉	🔚 Central 🔰 📾 SOASTAeply clip 📀				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA
1	-	~ ~			1 - 18		50 🔻 List 👻 🕲 🕲 🕲
		A Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
		8	soastastore.com				
	HTM	L Document					
		8	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1
	🗹 R	lesources 🗹 Si	tatic 🔲 Dynamic				
		8	jquery.rating.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-eore/js/jquery.rating.js
		8	user.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/wpsc-core/js/user.js
		8	thickbox.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wppsc-core/js/thickbox.js
		8	index.php (2)	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/index.php
		8	comment-reply.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-includes/js/comment-reply.js
		8	sf-forum.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simcript/forum/sf-forum.js
		8	style-weaver.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/wemes/style-weaver.css
		8	index.php (3)	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/index.php
		8	soastastorelogo.jpg	JPEG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/204/soastastorelogo.jpg
		8	dashboard.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/dashboard.png
		8	favicon.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/favicon.gif

3. Once scrolled to the bottom of the Resources section, simply click the name of the message, favicon.gif, and drag it into the page as the last resource in the list. You may need to scroll down within the Resources section to confirm the move took place.

Clo	ud	Test 🧕	🔚 Central 🖉 🔜 SOASTAeply clip 📀				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA
1	-	1			1 - 17		50 🔻 List 🔻 🐌 🐌 🐌
		≙ Ç	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
$- \nabla$		a	soastastore.com				
	HTM	L Document					
		8	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1
	V R	lesources 🗹 Sta	atic 🔲 Dynamic				
		9	user.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/wpsc-core/js/user.js
		a	thickbox.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wppsc-core/js/thickbox.js
		<u>a</u>	index.php (2)	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/index.php v
		<u>a</u>	comment-reply.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-includes/js/comment-reply.js
		<u>a</u>	sf-forum.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simcript/forum/sf-forum.js
		8	style-weaver.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/wemes/style-weaver.css
		8	index.php (3)	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/index.php v
		8	soastastorelogo.jpg	JPEG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/204/soastastorelogo.jpg
		8	dashboard.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/dashboard.png
		e	favicon.gif	GIF	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/favicon.gif

- 4. Click the Save icon on the toolbar to save the Test Clip.
- 5. If you collapse the first page by clicking the triangle icon, you will see that the favicon.gif request is now incorporated into the Page and no longer gets requested on its own.

Clo	ud	Test	Central SOASTAe	ply <mark>cl</mark> ip 💿			
1	-	1		6 6)		1 - 17	50 - List -
		A Q	Name	Туре	Target Name		Operation
		8	soastastore.com				
	8	8	Delay1				37597 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (1)				
	8	8	Delay2				20252 ms.
		8	wp-login.php				
		8	soastastore.com (2)				
	8	8	Delay3				13144 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (3)				

6. Depending on the factors listed above, you may need to do this zero or more times for each test clip.

Rename Pages (and messages) as appropriate

CloudTest auto-names each of the messages and pages in the test. This naming is done based on the last part of the URL.—whether this is done by the Convert to Clip wizard (Recording Option 1) or on-the-fly while doing HTTP recording in the Clip Editor (Recording Option 2).

In most cases, auto-naming matches the requests being made. In certain cases, however, it might be necessary to rename either pages or messages (or both) in a test. Although this does not change the functioning of the test clip, it will make the results easier to interpret. Take for example our tutorial test clip:

Clo	ud	Test	Central SOASTAe	oly clip 🔘					
1	-	1		3 6			1 - 17	50	• List •
		A Q	Name	9	Туре	Target Name		Operation	
•		8	soastastore.com						
	8	8	Delay1					3	7597 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (1)						
	8	8	Delay2					20	0252 ms.
		8	wp-login.php						
		8	soastastore.com (2)						
	8	8	Delay3					1;	3144 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (3)						
	8	8	Delay4					1:	5171 ms.
		8	index.php						
		8	soastastore.com (4)						
	8	8	Delay5					1	9107 ms.
		8	index.php (1)						
		8	soastastore.com (5)						
		8	Delay6					1:	3953 ms.
		8	wp-login.php (1)						
		8	soastastore.com (6)						

Since this sample application repeatedly uses the same URLs over and over again throughout the test (i.e. soastastore.com, wp-login.php, and index.php), the test clip ends up having similar Page names throughout the test. Anytime the same Page name is detected in the recording, a number is appended with an increasing integer value. So, the first time the test clip has a Page that references soatastore.com, it won't have any parenthesis. The second time it encounters that URL, it appends (1) as in *soastastore.com* (1)...and so on. In this case, the recording hit that page 8 times. It makes it harder to interpret the results if the appended numbers are the only differences between the Page names. Let's edit the Page names so they make more sense.

1. If you already know what the pages names should be, feel free to directly edit them in the UI (see below). To figure out what that page is doing, you will need to examine

the page more closely. Click the grey triangle to the left of the Page name to expand the first page of the Test Clip.

Clo	ud	Test 🖌	🔚 Central 🔰 🔜 SOASTAeply clip 📀				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA
	-	~ ~			1 - 17		50 🔻 List 👻 🐌 🐌 🐌
		₽ ♀	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation	
$\neg \forall$		<u></u>	soastastore.com				
	HTM	L Document					
		8	soastastore.com (7)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1
	⊘ R	esources 🗹 S	tatic 🔲 Dynamic				
		8	style.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/2010-weaver/style.css
		8	thickbox.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpc-core/js/thickbox.css
		8	product_rater.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/product_rater.css
		8	compatibility.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpheme/compatibility.css
		8	I10n.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-includes/js/l10n.js
		8	wpsc-default.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/themes/201aver/wpsc-default.css
		8	jquery.infieldlabel.min.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-eery.infieldlabel.min.js
		8	ajax.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/wpsc-core/js/ajax.js
		8	wp-e-commerce.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wpe/js/wp-e-commerce.js
		a	jquery.livequery.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/wp-e/js/jquery.livequery.js

In this case, it is pretty clear the first page is just hitting soastastore.com and getting the home page. So, we will want to change the name of this Page to "soastastore.com Home Page".

2. To change the name of the page, click on the text of the Page's current name (in this case "soastastore.com"). The Page name will become editable.

Clo	ud	Te	st		Central	y 💼 s	OASTA	eply c	lip 🛞	
	-	4		2	1	P		ţ.	6	
		4	Ģ	1	Name					Туре
V		8		s	oastaston	e.com				
	HTM	L Doc	umen	ł						

3. Enter the new name, *soastastore.com Home Page*, and hit the Enter/Return key on your keyboard to confirm the new name.



- 4. Save the test clip.
- 5. Although typically less important, you can also rename the individual messages within the page. If you want to change any message names, follow the same process as before: click the message name, enter the new name, and click the Enter/Return key on the keyboard to confirm the change.
- 6. Let's look at another Page where the appropriate name might not be as obvious.

Clo	oud	Test	Central SOASTA eply clip	1			
	-	4				1 - 17	▶ ▶ 50 - Lis
		9 9	Name	Туре	Target Name		Operation
		8	soastastore.com Home Page				42 12
	8	8	Delay1				37597 ms.
		8	soastastore.com (1)				
	8	8	Delay2				20252 ms.
		8	wp-login.php				
		8	soastastore.com (2)				

In the image above, the test clip hits the soastastore.com Home Page, has a think time of almost 38 seconds, and then hits another page (currently named *soastastore.com (1)*). That page contains these requests:

C	0	ud	Test	Central 🛛 🔤 SOASTAeply clip 📀				[Robert Holcomb / SOAST	A - Rob]	About
		•	4			1 - 17		50 🔻 List 👻 🕲 🕲 🕲) 🦻	8
		_	A Ç	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation			
	▶		8	soastastore.com Home Page						
		2	8	Delay1				37597 ms.		
	₹.		<u> </u>	soastastore.com (1)						
		нтм	Document							
			9	soastastore.com (8)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	get	1	page_id=	167
		R	esources 🗹	Static 🔲 Dynamic						
			<u>a</u>	jquery.jqprint.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simp/print/jquery.jqprint.js	ver=3.1.4	4
			8	prettyCheckboxes.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/sies/prettyCheckboxes.js	ver=3.1.4	t i
			8	highslide.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simighslide/highslide.css		
			8	sf-tags.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simpjscript/tags/sf-tags.js	ver=3.1.4	ŧ .
			8	default.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simins/default/default.css		
			8	highslide.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/sim/highslide/highslide.js	ver=3.1.4	ŧ .
			8	sf-framework.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/si/skins/sf-framework.css		
			8	login.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simcons/default/login.png		
			8	guestdefault.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/forum-avatars/guestdefault.png		
			8	register.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/simns/default/register.png		

Note that the Page is accessing <u>www.soastastore.com/page id=167</u>. That naming isn't really helpful unless you've memorized what page_id=167 means. It is possible that by referencing the test definition document you can deduce that this Page was a result of clicking the "Forum" link on the Exercises menu. For the sake of training, let's assume you couldn't figure that out from the test definition document. You will use other CloudTest features to figure it out.

7. Double-click on the first request in the second Page. In these tutorial screenshots, this is the *soastastore.com* (8) HTML message in the *soastastore.com* (1) Page. This will open the properties pane at the bottom of the Clip Editor.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties Selected: soastaste	ore.com (8) Results	(b) 00:00:00.000 (c) 0
soastastore.com (8)	Operation: get	
V URL Values	URL Values	1
Query String	Query String	page_id=167
Recorded Request Request Headers		
Request Content		
HTTP Response Headers		
Response Headers		
& Response Content		
V Toperty Sets		
Built in		

8. Once you've double-clicked on a message, you have the ability to see the recorded request and response for that message. This is the request/response that occurred at the time of your recording. This is always available as a reference while you are building tests. Having this information available as part of the test clip is frequently used to compare the test you are editing to a "known good" execution of the test. That way you can compare headers, content, etc. to help troubleshoot any issues you might experience with a particular message. Click the 'Response Headers' item on the left.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties Selected: soa	Istastore.com (8) Results 0 0:00:00.000 0 0
	Operation: get Recorded Response Headers
VRL Values	
Query String	Casha Cashada ay akara na araka mutamalidata arak akada 0, ara akada 0
V 🎸 Recorded Request	Date: Eri Al Jul 2011 15:36:59 GMT
I Request Headers	Via: 1.1 (jetty)
I Request Content	X-Pingback: http://www.soastastore.com/xmlrpc.php
HTTP Response Headers	Expires: Thu, 19 Nov 1981 08:52:00 GMT
▼ is recorded Response	Content-Type: text/html; charset=UTF-8
G Response Headers	Content-Length: 4977
Content 🍪	Pragma: no-cache
Property Sets	Vary: Accept-Encoding
Validations	Content-Encoding: gzip
Built in	

9. Many times this data is useful to determine if an HTTP 302 redirect occurred in the test—and what the redirect URL (location) might have been. This data is also useful when trying to determine if cookies were sent as part of this request and what their values might have been. In this case, the recorded response headers don't provide much information about what this Page is actually doing. So, click 'Response Content' to see the response content.



10. In this case, there is enough information in this response to indicate this page is the default page for the soastastore.com Forum. The highlighted text in the screenshot above shows the <title> tag in the HTML. Note that for performance reasons, only the first 2,000 characters in the response are shown in the window. If you want to see the full response, click the "Show the entire response" checkbox. Further, if you don't want to read through the HTML code to determine what the page is, you can select the "Show as HTML" checkbox to render the HTML code as a web page that might be easier to review.



11. You can then scroll within this window to review the recorded response content. If the window area is too small to view the whole page, click the expand pane button () on the right side of the properties pane bar. You can use the restore pane button () to return to the original size.



- 12. Now that we know this Page is loading the default Forum page, we can name it accordingly. This tutorial has used the name *Forum Default Page (not logged in)*.
- 13. Go through each of the remaining pages, determine what that page is doing, and name them accordingly. There should be about 9 Pages you need to rename. To best follow this tutorial, the following 4 pages need to have specific names:
 - (a) Page that contains the POST for posting a new forum topic: *Post new forum topic*
 - (b) Page immediately after the Page above: *Load newly posted forum topic*)
 - (c) Page that contains the POST for posting the username: Post credentials
 - (d) Page immediately after the Page above: Forum Default Page (logged in)

Playing and Debugging a Simple Test

As a general guideline, it is best to play and debug a test as changes are made to the Test Clip. This simplifies debugging tasks. Debugging a test is an iterative process and this tutorial walks you through a common test creation/debugging process.

1. Click the Open in Test Composition icon on the Clip Editor toolbar. For more information, see *Test Composition* in CloudLink.



The test is added to Track 1 of a composition with the name *Composition for SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip,* which opens in the Composition Editor (in a new tab).

CloudTest 🔚 Central	🥃 SOASTAeply clip 🛞 📑 Compo Reply clip 🛇
🎽 🔹 🔊 📬	r 🖪 🖻 🗙 🚱 🕨 🖩
Total Virtual Users: 1	Sequenced Band: Band 1
Track 1	SOASTA Store Post Forum To
Any Location 100 % 🕰	. ₽. ₽

Click Save on the Composition Editor toolbar. The Save Composition box appears. Assign the composition a new name. For example, *SOASTA Store Forum Tutorial Composition*.

2. This tutorial test clip, like most tests, has think times and those think times can sometimes be quite long. A test might playback in a couple of seconds without think times, but might take many minutes with think times included. Think times are critical during load tests to ensure the HTTP traffic closely simulates real user traffic. However, think times are not necessary (in most cases) during the test debugging process. Many users override the think times in the clip with "0ms" think times. Note, however, there are a small number of applications that need think times to operate correctly. In those cases, users will typically override the think times with "1000ms". If you want to be conservative, simply override all think times with 1000ms—it covers your bases and still plays the test back for debugging purposes much more quickly. Now, let's set a composition-level think time override.

3. Click the "Properties" tab in the lower pane of the Composition Editor.

Z A Composition			General	Page Resource	Settings	Delays	Cu
Band 1	Track Name:	Track 1	P	ercent Allocation:	100		%
Track 1 SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic an	Maestro Settings:						
SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic ar	Distribution Name	Distribution 1					N Virtu pe
	Location:	Any Location					Cop
	Enable Repeat						

4. Click "Composition" in the left-hand navigation pane.

Composition	General	Play Settings	Debug Settings	Monitoring	Page Resource Settings	Delays	Custom Properties
Band 1 Track 1 SOASTA Store Post Forum	τι Ο 5 	Start Composition in Preview Mode Prompt for result na Auto Stop Time: URL Tracking Errors should	n Manual Ramp Mode me and description Vinimum: 1000 ms g: Full URL for Knov Play Mode: Gene d: honor individual s	ms. vn \$ ral \$ vett \$	Edit Advanced Settings Save Results Save Clip Element Details Save Composition Element Force Garbage Collection Track Garbage Collection rent Count Limit default is no I	Details	ontainer Analytics: Dbject Message Clip Chain Group Transaction Change All ogging: Object Test Composition Band Track Message Clip Change All

5. Click the "Delays" tab.

E Composition	(General	Play Settings	Monitoring	Page Resource Settings	Delays	Custom Pre
 Image: Band 1 Image: Track 1 Image: SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic € 	 Override Delay Replace th 	settings e individual Dela	y settings		O Adjust the in	dividual Delay se	ttings
www.soastastore.com (www.so	 Duration 	n	ms.		Multiply	duration by:	

6. Click the "Override Delay settings" checkbox and set the "Duration" field as *1000* ms, which overrides each think time in the test with 1 second think time.

Composition		General	Play Settings	Monitoring	Page Resource Settings	Delays	Custom Pro
 Band 1 ▼ Track 1 ▼ SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic a ♥ www.soastastore.com (www.so 	Override Delay	settings e individual Dela	y settings		O Adjust the in	dividual Delay se	ttings
	💿 Duratio	n 1000	ms.		Multiply of the second se	duration by:	

- 7. Save the composition.
- 8. Click the Play button () on the Composition Editor toolbar. The Composition Editor Play tab appears with the default dashboard in display while the test composition plays.

The Result Details dashboard appears with the status *Playing*.

Result Details Dashboard

The Result Details dashboard helps you determine the cause of errors in your test and has several methods for navigating through the test results.

Start by clicking the arrows next to the Track and Clip names to expand each Page in the test.

You can further expand individual Pages in the tree to drill down to individual message requests.



Although errors didn't occur in this test playback, when errors do occur, the Result Details widget helps to easily identify both where and what errors occurred. A message will indicate that errors occurred during the test, how many errors there were, and any errors will be highlighted in red. Here are some sample screenshots of error conditions:

Result Details	
All Element Status: is All Element	Type: is <u>All</u>
 Draft of Composition for Wikipedia Tutorial Scenario clip Band 1 Image: Image: Imag	Completed - With Errors

Result Details	_						
Y Element Status: Is \$ All \$ Element Typ	e: Is 🛟 All		•				
 ▼ ag Urati of SOASTA Store Forum Tutorial Composition ▼ and 1 ▼ ag Track 1 ▼ ag SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply cl ▼ ag soastastore.com Home Page Soastastore.com (7) 	Band 1	led Total Com	ASTA Store Post F	Vessages and Action	tas: 1 Error Compo stors.c. ger ply clip ► soastas Events List	onents: 6 Error Messages and Actions: 1	
	Wesponse did not pass validation. Message send failed.						
	Start Time 21 sec.	Delta from sched	Response Time 914 ms. TTFB: 911 ms. TTLB: 914 ms.	Total Time 915 ms.	Total Message Bytes S: R(Gzip) 3983,187	Validations Validation of response body did not pass. Response did not pass validation.	
	Request			Change to XML View	Response	Change to HTML View	
	Operation: get				Target:	Ô	
	GET / HITP/ Host: www.si Accept-Lang Accept-Char: Accept-Char: Accept: tex Proxy-Connei URL Values Query String	Operation: get GET / HTTP/1.1 Host: wow.soastastore.com Accept-language: en-US,en;q=0.8 Accept-Charset: 150-8859-1,utf-8;q=0.7,*;q=0.3 Accept: Hozilal2,50 (Macintosh; Intel Mac OS X 10_6_8) Var.Agent: Mozilla2,50 (Macintosh; Intel Mac OS X 10_6_8) Accept: text/html.application/xhtml+xml.application/xml;q= Proxy-Connection: keep-alive URL Values /			Target: HTTP/1.1 200 OK Cache-Control: no-store, no-cache, must-revalidate, post- Content-Encoding: gzip Content-Type: text/html; charset=UTF-8 Date: Wed, 06 Jul 2011 20:41:05 GMT Expires: Thu, 19 Nov 1981 08:52:00 GMT =0 Pragma: no-cache Server: Apache/2.2.14 (Ubuntu) Set-Conckie: PMPSESID=d6pvi6d00p2kv8066f4lts1442; path=/ Vary: Accept-Encoding X-Pingback: http://www.soastastore.com/xmlrpc.php X-Powered-By: PMP/S.3.2-lubuntu4.9 Connect-Length: 2684 Connect-Lingth: 2684		

The Navigation Tree view on the left is useful for navigating around multiple clips in a test composition. Click the arrow for any node to expand or collapse it.

Result Details	
T Element Status: Is + All + Element Ty	pe: Is 🗘 All
V Note: The second state of SOASTA Store Forum Tutorial Composition	Completed - Wit
🔻 📋 Band 1	
🔻 💼 Track 1	
V 🔤 SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip	
soastastore.com Home Page	
Delay1	
Forum Default Page (not logged in)	
Delay2	SOASTA Stor
V 🖪 Post credentials	
wp-login.php (2)	
🔻 💷 Forum Default Page (logged in)	
soastastore.com (9)	Draft of SOASTA Store Forum
userdefault.png	Status Effe
logout.png	
subscribed.png	Completed 2:0
watching.png	Composition completed. Star

Use the filters to quickly display messages (or browser actions) only (within a single band, track, test clip, or chain); or, to display errors only.



- Click any Message or Action in the Cover Flow at the top to center it and display its request/response details and play statistics in the panes below.
- Use the scrollbar to browse the Cover Flow (if an item is selected in the Navigation Tree, the Cover Flow shows only items that pertain to the selection).
- Select any item in either the Navigation Tree or the Cover Flow to show its low-level details in the Input/Output or Events List tabs under the Cover Flow.
- Click the Events List tab on any object in the Cover Flow interface to see a sequential, event-by-event list of the given test result. The Events List displays the full request (headers/POST data) and response (headers/content) in the same view by clicking on Details node. This list provides the raw response data including hidden fields. The Events List is only available during debugging—not during a load test. This will be discussed in more detail later in the tutorial with regard to General Mode versus Load Mode.

🖪 🗸	Co	mplet	ed - Wi	th No Errors	Total Components: 129	Total Messages and Actions: 107	Error Components: 0
Band	I1► •	Track 1	► SOA	STA Store Post	Forum Topic and Reply clip	CSS S S S S GET ET ET ET ET	e > soastastore.com (7)
					Input Output Even	nts List	
soastasto	re.co	m (7)					
Event		Time	Level	Event Code	Description		
	9	51382	Info	Message: send	Sending Message.		
				-	Band: "Band 1" Track: "Trac "soastastore.com Home Pa	ck 1" Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forun ge" Message: "soastastore.com (7)"	Topic and Reply clip" Page:
	10	51385	Verbose	Transport: send	Sending message "soasta (www.soastastore.com)",	astore.com (7)" to Destination "www operation "get".	v.soastastore.com
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Trac Target: "www.soastastore.c Message: "soastastore.com	ck 1" Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum om (www.soastastore.com)" Page: "so n (7)"	n Topic and Reply clip" pastastore.com Home Page"
					Details:		
	11	51849	Verbose	Transport: sent	Received response to me	ssage "soastastore.com (7)".	
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Trac Target: "www.soastastore.c Message: "soastastore.com	ck 1" Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum om (www.soastastore.com)" Page: "so n (7)"	n Topic and Reply clip" pastastore.com Home Page"
					▼Details:		
					HTTP/1.1 200 OK Cache-Control: no-st Content-Encoding: gz Content-Type: text/h Date: Tue, 05 Jul 20 Expires: Thu, 19 Nov Pragma: no-Cache Server: Apache/2.2.1 Set-Cookie: PHPSESSI Vary: Accept-Encodin X-Pingback: http://w X-Powered-By: PHP/5.	ore, no-cache, must-revalida ip tml; charset=UTF-8 11 23:10:26 GMT 1981 08:52:00 GMT 4 (Ubuntu) D=6nr2dn5t3s0mo9d1615mon07f2 g ww.soastastore.com/xmlrpc.ph 3.2-lubuntu4.9	te, post-check=0, pre ; path=/ p
					Content-Length: 2684 Connection: keep-ali	ve	

Verifying Test Parameterization

You will note that this test "Completed – With No Errors". An important point to note is that **just because the test completed without errors does not necessarily mean the test was successful**. CloudTest automatically checks the HTTP Status Code for all HTTP requests in a test. If the response is an HTTP 2xx or 3xx response code, it is considered a success. If the response is an HTTP 4xx or 5xx response code, it is considered an error. Many applications, however, will not use these status codes to indicate if a request is successful or not. For example, many applications will return a valid response (i.e. HTTP 200 status code), but actually contain an error message on it—or return an error page with an HTTP 200 status code.

(A later section in this tutorial will walk you through the setup of custom validations to ensure pages and messages are coming back correctly.)

Until validations are setup in the test, the only way to ensure the test is working correctly is by reviewing each page request.

1. With the Result Details Dashboard in display, expand the Navigation Tree until all the pages are visible. Click the first page in the navigation page on the left (soastastore.com Home Page).

Result Details								
Telement Status: Is CAll Clement Typ	pe: Is 🗘 All	\$						
Draft of SOASTA Store Forum Tutorial Composition Time Band 1	Completed - Wit	th No Errors	Total Components: 12	9 Total Messages and Ac	tions: 107	Error Components: 0		
▼ 1 Track 1 ▼ SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip ■ SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip			soast	astore.c	s s s			
Delav1				+ GET ET	≡्री हा }्वा			
Forum Default Page (not logged in)								
Delay2	Band 1 ►	Track 1 > SOA	STA Store Post Forum	Topic and Reply clip > so	astastore.	com Home Page		
Post credentials	(4)							
Forum Default Page (logged in)								
Delay3			Summary	Events List				
Forum Product Questions	soastastore.com Home Page							
Delay4	Effective Duration	Effective Duration Aug Book		Total Message Bytes	al Message Bytes Effectiv		Message Throughout	
Post new forum topic	Elicente Bulaton	100		Total Message Bytes Elicetive Message			iput	
Load newly posted forum topic	1 sec.	189 ms	. S: 11,114 F		1,785	16 msgs/sec.	6 msgs/sec.	
Delay5	Start: 20 sec.	Min: 76 ms.	Agg: 4 sec.			291,654 bytes/s		
Post reply to forum topic		Max: 599 m	s,		-	2,333,236 Dits/s		
Load post with reply	Component Summary		Retries due to una	vailable local	Retry tin	ne due to unavailable local		
Delay6	Massage	23	ports		ports		0	
Logout	Browser Actions	0	Minimum	0	Minimum		0	
soastastore.com Home Page (after logout)	Scripts	0	Average	0	Average		0	
	Delays Checkpoints	0	Total	0	Total		0	

2. The dark-blue icon on the right (I) represents the page. The data below the cover flow shows statistics associated with the playback of this page during the test. Click the brown "GET" icon to the right of the page and the Input Output tab.

💽 🧹 Completed - With	No Errors	Total Components: 1	Total Messag	es and Actions: 1	Error Components: 0	Jump to now
Band 1 ► 1	Frack 1 ▶ SC	DASTA Store Post Foru	m Topic and F	tast GET Reply clip ▶ soast	astore.com Home Page	e ▶ soastastore.com
			Input Output	Events List		
General						
Name: soastastore.com						
Start Time 1.584 sec.	Res 2.1 TTF	sponse Time 772 sec. :B: 2.754 sec. TTLB: 2	.754 sec.	Total Time 2.773 sec.		Total Message Bytes Sent: 359 Received: 4,435(gzipped)
Custom Properties	Input		Chan	ge to XML View 🕀	Output	Change to HTML View
No property changes	GET / HTTF Host: WW-A Accept-Enc User-Agent Connection Accept: te Proxy-Conr URL Valu Query St	<pre>/l.l soatstore.com guage: en-us oding: gzip, deflate : Mozila/S.O (Macintos :: keep-alive ess // ring // </pre>	h; Intel Mac OS	: X 10_8_5) AppleWe	Target: HTTP/1.1 200 OK Content-Encoding: gr Content-Encoding: gr Content-Encoding: gr Content-Type: text/ Date: Mon, 14 Oct 22 Expires: Thu, 19 Nor Perver: Apache/2.2.1 Set-Cookie: MPESSS Set-Cookie: MPESSS Set-Coo	nt

3. This GET request represents the root request for index.html of soastastore.com. Scroll down in the response area to confirm the expected page contents are returned by the request. Note that this view is not an exact representation of the HTML rendering—consider it an interpreted rendering of the HTML. If you want to see the raw HTML that came back in this request, click the "Events List" tab.

Content-Length: 3420 Connection: keep-alive	
SOASTASTORE	
Skip to content	
• <u>Home</u>	
• <u>Forum</u>	
• <u>Comment</u>	
• <u>Store</u>	
• <u>Checkout</u>	
• <u>Your Account</u>	
<u>About SOASTA</u>	

- 4. Determine if the page response looks correct. In this case, the first page is coming back correctly.
- 5. Repeat steps 1-4 above for each of the pages in this test. Make sure the response content in the first GET (or POST) request of each page contains the expected information. Pay special attention to all POST requests and the GET requests that immediately follow the POST requests. This is where most replacement and parameterization errors typically occur.
- 6. At this point, there are two additional things you will need to fix before the test is complete. Before moving to the next step, see if you can identify those two things.

...

- 7. The answer: you haven't parameterized each step in the test. If you didn't read ahead, you should have found these two things:
 - After the new forum topic is posted, the GET request afterward is still requesting the originally recorded topic URL not the one that was just created.
 - The reply POST isn't replying to the newly created topic—it is replying to the originally recorded topic.
- 8. We will correct these issues in the next couple sections.

Test editing and parameterization

Session Template Wizard

As you discovered in the previous section, although this test plays back with "No Errors" it isn't working correctly. A couple of POSTs and related GET requests aren't working 100% correctly. Let's fix these errors.

There are a few ways these issues can be fixed:

- (a) Re-run the Session Template Package Wizard. There are other variables that need to be parameterized. This is typically the recommended approach, although it isn't always the best solution for each situation.
- (b) Parameterize the dynamic values as they are discovered in the Clip Editor. This process is slower because each variable is done one at a time versus in batches. However, the Session Template Wizard makes this process very easy.
- (c) Manually parameterize the dynamic values by identifying the value to extract, manually creating extraction rules (or "property sets"), creating properties, and using the created properties in subsequent requests.

Since we've already seen option (a) this section of the tutorial will walk you through option (b) as described above for one variable (page_id). A later section will required that you replace an additional value using option (c) above.

1. Switch back to the Clip Editor on the tab bar. If you closed the test clip, re-open it from Central. Leave the composition open—you can edit the test clip without closing and reopening the Composition Editor.



2. Expand the grey triangle next to the pages for posting a new forum topic and the page immediately after that one (This tutorial used names: *Post new forum topic* and *Load newly posted forum topic*). The URL request after the post is hard-coded to something like */post-1/* or */post-1-1/*.

CI	ou	dTest	Central SOASTAeply clip	\odot				[Robert Holcomb / SOASTA - Rob] About Logout S
1				B X		1 - 17 🗦 🗦	50 🔻 List 🔻 🔮) 🖄 🖆 🕲 🏓 🛸 🔹 💌 💌
		0 🔒	Name	Туре	Target Name	Oper	ation	
	V 🖪 🗠 Post new forum topic							
	н	TML Document						
		8	index.php (4)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	n post	/index.php	sf_ahah=post
		Resources 🗹	Static 🗖 Dynamic					
	v 🗉	6	Load newly posted forum topic					
	н	TML Document						
) 🔒	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	n get	1	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/
		Resources 🗹	Static 🗖 Dynamic					
		0	sf-post.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	npins/default/sf-post.css
		8	jcookie.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	nplscript/jquery/jcookie.js ver=3.1.4
		0 8	success.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	nns/default/success.png
		8	mess-succ.png (1)	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	n/default/mess-succ.png
		8	topic.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	npicons/default/topic.png
		0	print.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	npicons/default/print.png
		8	user.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	np/icons/default/user.png
		8	addpost.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sin	nns/default/addpost.png
		A	announcenew.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/si.	efault/announcenew.png
/ M	essag	es/Actions	Scripts Properties Selected: soastaste	ore.com (11)	Results	© 00:00:00.000 😵		Record
	(⊂) s () ⊦	oastastore.cor	n (11) Headers	Operatio	on: get			
V		nputs		URL Va	lues	1		æ
		 URL Values Query String 	1	Query	String	page_id=167/product-	questions/post-1/	

3. The next step is figuring out where the */post-1/* value comes from and replacing it. To replace a single property in the test, we will use the Session Template Wizard that is accessed from within the test Clip Editor. Note that this is a different wizard from the Session Template <u>Package</u> Wizard we used earlier in the tutorial since we're only focusing on a single property. Highlight the portion of the Query String you want to replace. In this case, just highlight the entire Query String field. With

the text highlighted, click the session template icon () in the upper-right corner of the Clip Editor and choose "Launch Session Template Wizard".

Clo	ud	Test	Central 🛛 🔤 SOASTAe	ply clip 💿			[Robert Holcomb	SOASTA-Rob] About Logout SOAST
	-	2		B B X		1 - 17	50 - List - 🐌 🕲 🕲 🐿	🏓 💿 🔻 📖 🐇
		₽ Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation		Launch Session Template Wizard
	R	esources 💽	Static 📃 Dynamic					Q Launch Session Template Package Wizard
								Papply a Session Template or Package
		<u>A</u>	Load newly posted forum topic					
	HTM	L Document						
		8	soastastore.com (11)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	n get	1	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/
	R	esources 💽	Static 🔲 Dynamic					
		8	sf-post.css	CSS	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simpins/default/sf-post.css	
		8	jcookie.js	JS	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simplscript/jquery/jcookie.js	s ver=3.1.4
		8	success.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simns/default/success.png	
		8	mess-succ.png (1)	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/sim/default/mess-succ.png	
		8	topic.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simpicons/default/topic.png	1
		8	print.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simpicons/default/print.png	
		8	user.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simp/icons/default/user.png	1
		a	addpost.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simns/default/addpost.png	
		8	announcenew.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/siefault/announcenew.png	
		8	online.png	PNG	www.soastastore.com	n get	/wp-content/plugins/simcons/default/online.png	
		8	Delay5				19107 ms.	
	-	-	<u> </u>					
/ Mes	sages	Actions	Scripts Properties Selected: s	oastastore.com (11)	Results	© 00:00:00.000 🐼 0		Record
6	soa	stastore.co	m (11)					
1	нтт	P Request	Headers	Operation	h: get			
▼<) Inpu	ıts		URL Val	ues	1		
	01	JRL Values	3	0	tela -			
₹4	Rec	Juery Strin	g uest	Query S	unig	page_io=167/product-ques	alons/post-1/	

Value S	earch and Retrieval		6								
/alue:	page_id=167/product-questions/p	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/									
Result(s):	Recorded Responses	Response Content	Next								
Retrieve Se	ession Template Value										
e	Use SubString: Edit										
C) Use this XPath:										
C	Use an existing script:		Browse								
C) Use a new script:										

4. The "Value Search and Retrieval" window will appear.

5. Click the "Find" button. This will search from the current message back to the front of the test. It will find the occurrence of this value in a response that preceded the selected message.

Value Se	earch and Retrieval		0						
Value:	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/								
Result(s):	Recorded Responses	Response Content	Next						
	index.php (4)	00 GMT =UTF-8 .com/?page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/#pl1 .9							
Retrieve Se	Use SubString: Edit Use this XPath: Use an existing script:	. Browse							

6. This string was found in the Location header of the response to the *index.php* (4) request. This is the page that POSTs the new topic. If you click the Next button repeatedly, it will search through the recorded responses of the clip to identify other
locations where this string was returned in a response. This clip has a few places where this string was found.

Value S	earch and Retrieval		ß
Value:	page_id=167/product-questions/po	st-1/	Find
Result(s):	Recorded Responses index.php (4) soastastore.com (11) index.php (5) soastastore.com (12) soastastore.com (13) No more results found.	Response Content 00 GMT =UTF-8 .com/?page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/#pl1 .9	Next
Retrieve Se © C C	Use SubString: Edit Use this XPath: Use an existing script: Use a new script:	Browse	

7. For the purposes of this tutorial, select the first recorded response, *index.php* (4).

For this extraction, use a SubString. Click the "Edit" button next to the SubString option.

Content-Type: Content-Length Pragma: no-ca Location: http X-Powered-By: Vary: Accept-1	text/html; charset=UTF-8 : 20 he ://www.soastastore.com/?page_id=10 PHP/5.3.2-1ubuntu4.9 ncoding	57/product-questions/post-1/#pll
Select the paramete	s to be used for finding the value in the above	response content.
Header Name:	Location	Insert Selected
Leading Text:		Insert Selected
Trailing Text:		Insert Selected
Value Length:		Insert Selected
End of Text		
Test Result:		Test
Use Regular exp	ression	
		OK Cancel

8. The string you want to extract is coming back in the Location header of the response. The Header name has been pre-populated for you. Select the appropriate

leading and trailing text values to extract the orange text and insert them into the appropriate fields. Click the "Test" button to verify the extraction works correctly. Click OK when done.

Content-Type: Content-Length Pragma: no-cat Location: http X-Powered-By: Vary: Accept-	<pre>text/html; charset=UTF-8 .: 20 .:he .://www.soastastore.com/?page_id=167/product-q PHP/5.3.2-lubuntu4.9 Encoding</pre>	uestions/post-1/#pl1
elect the paramete	s to be used for finding the value in the above response conte	ent.
Header Name:	Location	Insert Selected
Leading Text:	n	Insert Selected
Trailing Text:	#	Insert Selected
) Value Length:		Insert Selected
End of Text		
Test Result:	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/	Test
Use Regular exp	ression	

9. The SubString Parser window will close and you are returned to the wizard. Click the green arrow on the right of the wizard to move to the next step.

Custom Property Definition	0
Create a new Clip Custom Property:	
Name:	
Choose an existing Custom Property:	
Message Properties	Ă
This message has no properties	
Clip Properties	
wpnonce	
o forum-userform_addpost	
o forum-userform_addtopic	
Target Properties	
This target has no properties	
System Properties	Ŧ
4))+

10. In this step you will define where you want the extracted data stored. You can either store the data in a new property or reuse an existing property. If you want to reuse an existing property from a previous replacement, you can do that, but be very careful as reusing properties can have unintended consequences when variable contents change. Since you are replacing this value for the first time, you want to create a new clip custom property. Give it the name of *page_id*. It is recommended that you use new properties to avoid any contention issues.

Custom Property Definition					
 Create a new Clip Custom Property: 					
Name: page_id					

11. Click the green arrow on the right of the wizard to move to the next step.

age_id=167/product-questi	ons/post-1/	Find All
Component	Matched Text	
ou want to save and apply	this Session Template logic on other Test Clips, please sele	ct a request from the above list and identify th
iable name in it below.		
quest Variable Name		Lasart Salasta

12. This step will search the entire clip to find all the locations where this string needs to be replaced. Click the "Find All" button.

Co soa	omponent	T TAKA A ANY ANY ANY ANY ANY ANY ANY ANY ANY	
soa sf-p	estactore com (11)	Matched Text	
sf-p	astastore.com (H)	page_ld=167/product-questions/post-1/	
- C.C.	post.css	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
jco	ookie.js	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
suc	ccess.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
me	ess-succ.png (1)	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
top	pic.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
] prir	int.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
use	er.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
add	dpost.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
anr	nouncenew.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
onl	line.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
] quo	iote.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
rep	portpost.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
use	eredit.png	page id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	

13. Select each of the checkboxes for the requests you want the wizard to replace. In most cases, you will choose the top checkbox to select all of the values to be replaced with the dynamic property. Click the top checkbox to select all values to be replaced.

pag	je_id=167/product-questions/	post-1/ Find All	
1	Component	Matched Text	
1	soastastore.com (11)	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/	
\checkmark	sf-post.css	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
\checkmark	jcookie.js	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
\checkmark	success.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
\checkmark	mess-succ.png (1)	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
\checkmark	topic.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
✓	print.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
\checkmark	user.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
1	addpost.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
\checkmark	announcenew.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
✓	online.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Proxy-Connection: keep-alive Accept-C	
\checkmark	quote.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
\checkmark	reportpost.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding: gzip,deflate,sdch Pr	
1	useredit.png	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/ Accept-Encoding; gzip.deflate.sdch Pr	

Summary		(
Session Template Name:		
Description:		
Save Location:	Browse	
Retrieve Variable Value Method:	SubString	
New or Existing Property:	New	
Property Name:	page_id	
Property Type:	user	
Property Owner Type:	clip	
Search Value:	page_id=167/product-questions/post-1/	
Replacement Value:	[page_id]	
Number of Modified Components:	23	
Selected Messages		_
soastastore.com (11), sf-post.css, announcenew.png, online.png, qur (5), soastastore.com (12), soastas	jcookie.js, success.png, mess-succ.png (1), topic.png, print.png, user.png, addpost.png, ote.png, reportpost.png, useredit.png, link.png, feedtopic.png, subscribe.png, watchon.png, index.p tore.com (12), wp-login.php (3), soastastore.com (13)	hp
	OK Can	cel

14. Click the green arrow on the right of the wizard to move to the next step.

15. Enter a name for this Session Template, *page_id*, click Browse... if you want to save to a specific location and click OK to close the wizard. After the wizard closes, the test clip will be reloaded with the new changes.

Session Template Parameterization: Under the covers

When you clicked OK to the complete the Session Template Wizard in the last section, several things happened:

- An extraction rule was defined (e.g. property set)
- A clip property was created
- The static string that needed to be replaced was replaced with a dynamic property
- A "session template" was created for re-use in other test clips (reusable session templates is a topic beyond the scope of this tutorial, please see CloudLink for more information)

Let's examine each of the places where the wizard altered the test in the test Clip Editor. Pay attention to the each of the interfaces described below. These are the same steps you will follow below to manually parameterize a test clip.

1. Expand the page that contains the POST that adds the new forum topic. In this tutorial, it was named *Post new forum topic*. Double-click on the POST request contained within the page.

		8	Post new forum topic							
	HTN	IL Document								
		<u></u>	index.php (4)		HTML	www.soastastore.com	post	/index.php	sf_ahah=post	
		Resources 🗹 S	tatic 📃 Dynamic							
	-	<u>a</u>	1							
Mes	sages	Actions So	cripts Properties	Selected: index.pl	hp (4) Result	ts 🕜 🕑 00:0	0 🕲 000.000		💿 Record 🛛 🛃	R
	a.,									
4	ind	ex.php (4)	adam	â	Operation: po	st				
		uts	eaders							
	0	URL Values			URL Values	/inde	x.php			2
	Ö	Query String			Query String	sf_a	hah=post			
	\diamond	Data								
_₹	👌 Re	corded Reques	st		Data	foru	n-userform_addtopic={	%% prop : messagecli	p : forum-userform_addtopic	-64
	6	Request Head	ers			70 70 post	alorumid=4alorumsiug tem=This+is+sample+t	=product-questions&n ext+for+Post+1&tonict	ewtopicname=Post+T& tags=&newtopic=Saving+Post	
	1	Request Conte	ent			poor	in the bounder of			
<	> нт	TP Response I	Headers							
~ <	👌 Re	corded Respor	ise							
	(Response Hea	aders							
	_	Response Con	itent							
A	Pro	perty Sets								
	XY2	page_id								
	Val	idations		¥						

2. In the lower pane, you will see "Property Sets" on the left. You will notice the *page_id* value that you just replaced. Click *page_id*.

The value of this field		🕂 🗙
Header	Location	
Retrieved using:	Substring	
Leading text:	/?	
Trailing Text:	#	
Value Length:		
Test on Recorded Response		
Test on Played Response		
Will be stored in this property		
Туре:	Custom	
Starting Element:	Current Clip	
Property Path:	page_id	
Match Options		
If more than one value is match	ed, select the first	
If no match is found,	return null	

- 3. The definition of the property set (e.g. extraction rule) is displayed above). Note that all of these configured settings can be changed in this user interface after the wizard completes. Additionally, notice the green + sign in the upper right-hand corner of this interface. You can create these extraction rules manually—without using the Session Template Package Wizard. This is used when manually correlating values.
- 4. This extraction rule is putting the extracted data into a clip property, *page_id*. Click the "Properties" tab to see the list of clip properties being used in this test clip. If it isn't selected already, click "Clip Custom Properties" in the Property Type list.

Messages/Actions Scripts Properties	s Selected: index.php (4) Results 💿 💿 00:00:00.000		
Property Type	Name	+ -	
🐻 Clip Custom Properties	wpnonce		
E Clip Properties	forum-userform_addpost		
Delays	forum-userform_addtopic		
Page Resource Settings	page_id		
Applied Session Templates & Packages			

5. You will see all of the clip properties (created from both the Session Template Package Wizard and the Session Template Wizard) are listed in this interface.

- 6. If you are manually replacing values you can add or delete clip properties by clicking the + or buttons in the upper-right corner of this interface. Give the new property a name and click the enter/return key on your keyboard to confirm the name.
- 7. To see where this clip property is used (among other places), expand the page in the clip directly after this page that contains the POST. In this tutorial, it is named *Load newly posted forum topic*. Double-click on the first HTML Document request.

Cl	ou	ΙdΤ	est 📕	🔚 Central 🛛 🔚 SOASTAeply d	lip 🤅	3				[Robert Holcomb /	SOASTA - Rob] About	Logout
1	1	00	~ ~		f	5) 🗙		1 - 17		50 🔻 List 🔻 🚺 🐌 🐚	1	
7	7 8	1 1 8		Name Post new forum topic		Туре	Target Name		Operation			
	Н	TML D	ocument	index.php (4)		HTML	www.soastastore.c	com	post	/index.php	sf_ahah=post	
		🛿 Resc	ources 🕑 Sti	atic 🔲 Dynamic								
7	7 🛛) e	3	Load newly posted forum topic								
	H7	TML D	locument									
			4	soastastore.com (11)		HTML	www.soastastore.c	tom	get	/	{%% prop : clip : page_	_id %%}
		Resc	ources 💌 St	atic 📃 Dynamic								
			5	sf-post.css		CSS	www.soastastore.c	om	get	/wp-content/pluginetault/st-post.css		
) 6	9	jcookie.js		JS	www.soastastore.c	om	get	/wp-content/plugin/jquery/jcookie.js	ver=3.1.4	
) 6	9	success.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	om	get	/wp-content/pluginfault/success.png	1	
) e	9	mess-succ.png (1)		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/plugiult/mess-succ.png		
) e	9	topic.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	:om	get	/wp-content/plugin/default/topic.png	ł	
) e	2	print.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/plugin/default/print.png		
	le.		a	user.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/plugin/default/user.png		
			a	addpost.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/pluginfault/addpost.pnc	,	
			a	announcenew.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/plug/announcenew.png	,	
) e	3	online.png		PNG	www.soastastore.c	com	get	/wp-content/pluginefault/online.png		
Me	ssag	jes/Ac	tions Sc	ripts Properties Selected: soast	astor	e.com (11)	Results) © 00:00:00.00	0 🕲 0		Record	
	Carlor Santa Santa S Santa Santa	soasta HTTP	istore.com (1 Request He	11) Jaders		Operation: gef	t					
V	<> I	nputs				URL Values		1				1
	- 9	> URI	L Values		ľ	C Ohior						
-	♦ Query String					Query String {%% prop : clip : page_id %%}						

- 8. You will see that this property is shown in both the list view above and the properties of the request below: *{%% prop : clip : page_id %%}*.
- 9. Properties can be manually added to a request by highlighting the static text to be replaced in the Query String (or POST data), clicking the white Property Chooser icon (2) next to the text entry field, and selecting the property to be replaced (example shown below). When you click OK to the dialog, it will put the property into the test.

Property Chooser	×
Choose a Property	
Message Properties	<u> </u>
This message has no properties	
Clip Properties	
forum-userform_addpost	
o forum-userform_addtopic	
O page_id	
Target Properties	
This target has no properties	
V System Properties	
▼ Z Target	
ConnectionIdleRefresh	
ConnectionRefresh	
ConnectionTimeout	
O DNSMaxTTL	Ŧ
Encode the value using No encoding	OK Cancel

Finishing Parameterization

There are still more replacements you need to complete before the test is working correctly. Use a combination, if necessary, of the three methods described above to replace the remaining dynamic values (Session Template Package Wizard, Session Template Wizard, or manual parameterization).

You will need to replace the following name/value pairs:

- topicslug
- topicid (topicid is used in the POST message that replies to the forum topic)

Hint: You can use any of the three methods to replace the topicslug value. However, you will need to use manual replacements to parameterize the topicid value.

When you think you have the test working, play it back in the composition. Manually log into the SOASTAStore.com Forum application and confirm that the reply is attached to the correct post. Run the composition 1-2 more times to make sure the tests works consistently. When you look at the Forum, you should see a post and a single reply in that post. If that isn't the case, something is wrong with the test. Go through the Result Details dashboard page-by-page to determine where your mistake was made.

Find and Replace

HINT: You may find it useful to use the Find/Replace feature to determine which response the topicid value is coming back in.

1. In Central, right-click on the recording you made for this tutorial and select "Find and Replace".

d and Replace			
		Find All	
			Replace Replace
Owner	Component	Matched Text	Туре

2. Enter "topicid" in the top field and click the "Find All" button.



- 1. This shows you each message where this string was found in the recording. You want to find the request where the topicid value first came back in a response. That is where you will create an extraction rule. Note the message number your response came back in. In this example, it is HTTP Message (90) that has the topicid value = 9.
- 2. Close the Find and Replace dialog and open the recording (if it isn't open already). Scroll down to the Seq # you noted above (in this example, 90) and click it.

C	ouď	Test 📕	Central	🛛 🖬 sc	ASTAepl	y clip 🛞 🖊 📑 Draft C	Composition 🛞 🔘	SOASTAd Reply 💿	[Robert Holcomb / SOA	STA - Rob] About I	Logout SOASTA
6		List 🔻	Convert 1	to a Clip		Y	© 00:03:00.388 📋 11	1 KB 188,766			
	Seq #	Resp. Code	Туре	Method	Protocol	Host Name	URL			Source IP	Destination IP
ŏ	87	200	GIF	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/sim	le-forum/styles/skins/default/checkbox.c	if	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
ŏ	88	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/sim	le-forum/styles/skins/default/mess-succ	png	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
ŏ	89	302	HTML	POST	http	www.soastastore.co	/index.php?sf ahah=pos	t		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
Ŏ	90	200	HTML	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/?page id=167/product-	guestions/post-1/		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	91	200	CSS	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/styles/skins/default/sf-post.css		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	92	200	JS	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/resources/jscript/jquery/jcookie	.js?ver=3.1.4	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	93	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/styles/icons/default/success.pr	g	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	94	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/styles/skins/default/mess-succ.	png	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	95	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/styles/icons/default/topic.png		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	96	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	le-forum/styles/icons/default/print.png		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	97	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	e-forum/styles/icons/default/user.png		127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	98	200	PNG	GET	http	www.soastastore.co	/wp-content/plugins/simp	ele-forum/styles/icons/default/addpost.pn	g	127.0.0.1	174.129.15.12
	00	200	DNC	CET	htto	ususu constantore en	lun content/sluaise/sim	la fanum/atulaa/ioana/dafault/announcan		107.0.0.1	174 100 15 10
	Decode	this binary end	oded messa	age using: (None		•				
Red	quest							Response			
Hea	aders							Headers			
	Accept	-Language: Cookie:	en-US,en; PHPSESSII wordpress sforum_fb	;q=0.8 D=nrpilu s_logged_ b2b19aaa	ni6777j6s _in_fb2b1 84158875f	3gahcllbc55; wordp 9aaa84158875f98ab8 98ab8f48187c0e=tes	ress_test_cookie f48187c0e=testus tuser1	X-Pingback: http:// Content-Length: 7283 Expires: Wed, 11 Last-Modified: Fri. 01	ww.soastastore.com Jan 1984 05:00:00 Jul 2011 15:38:04	/xmlrpc.php GMT GMT	Î.
		Host:	www.soast	tastore.	com			Server: Apache/2	2.2.14 (Ubuntu)		-
	Accep	t-Charset:	150-8859	-1,utf-8	;q=0.7,*;	q=0.3	duct quactions (X-Powered-By: PHP/5.3	.2-lubuntu4.9		
		Kererer.	nccp.//w	ww.sudsta	astore.co	m/ page_id=id/prot	ucc-quescions/ v	Cache-Control: no-cach	e, must-revalidate,	max-age=0	
Bor	lv.							Pragma: no-cache Body (GZin decompressed for viewing	2		1
	.,							Reformat Content	w the entire response	C Show on LITMI	
								<pre><fieldset> <fieldset> <legend>Reply to Topic:</legend> <legend>Reply to Topic:</legend> <ledu>div class="sfmessagestrip</ledu> <le>input type="hidden" name=</le> <le><input name="</li" type="hidden"/> <ledu>div class="dividen" name=</ledu> <ledu>type="hidden" name=</ledu> <ledu>tipe="hidden" name=</ledu> <ledu>tipe="hidden" name=</ledu> <ledu>tipe="hidden" name=</ledu> <ledu>tass="sfpostsaveta</ledu> <ledu>tipe="hidden" name=</ledu> <ledu>tass="sfpostsaveta</ledu> <ledu>tass="sfpostsaveta</ledu> <ledu>tipe=tass="sfpostsaveta</ledu> <ledu>tipe=tass="sfpostsaveta</ledu></le> <ledu>tass="sfpostsaveta </ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></ledu></fieldset></fieldset></pre>	egend> ">Post 1 <form "forun-userform_add "forunid" value="4" "fopicid" value="9" "topicid" value="9" topicid" value="9" topicid" value="9" ble">topicid" value="9" ble"</form 	<pre>class="sfpostfor post" value="f783 /> product-questions /> post-1" /> play:none"></pre> /> stastore.com/wp-content lspan="2">Smileys tore.com/wp-content	<pre>mcontent" actior 224f8a" /> " /> td>ontent/plugins/:</pre>

- 3. Click the "Show the entire response" checkbox and using the browser's find feature, locate the topicid in the response content. The value is what you need to extract using property sets.
- 4. Note: When you use Find/Replace on a recording, you can only do a "Find" because it is read-only. If you use Find/Replace on a clip, you have the ability to replace strings in the test clip. Be careful, however, when using Find/Replace on a clip. You may want to back up the clip prior to doing a mass Find/Replace.

Creating User-Defined Validations

CloudTest provides the ability to create user-defined custom validations. Use the following steps to define a custom validation that will validate login success in the test clip.

1. Open the page immediately after the POST message that sends the testuser1 credentials to the Forum. (We are validating the page after the POST because the POST response itself is just an HTTP 302 redirect—there isn't anything interesting to validate on that request.) In this tutorial, this page was named *Forum Default Page (logged in)*. Double-click the first message in the page, the HTML Document.

C	0	ud	Test /	Central 🛛 🥃 SOASTAe	ly clip 💿 🕻 📘	Draft Composition	🛞 🔪 💿 SOASTA	d Reply	Robert Holcomb / SOA	STA - Rob] About Logout
		•		2 9 8	3 🚯		1 - 17		50 🔻 List 💌 🚺 🙋 🖆) 🖢 🔎 💼
	V		≙ ⊊	Name Post credentials		Type Target Name		Operat	tion	
		HTM	L Document	wp-login.php (2) Static Dynamic		www.soastastore	a.com	post	/wp-login.php	action=login&view=forum
	•	нтм	A L Document	Forum Default Page (logged in)						
			8	soastastore.com (9)		www.soastastore	e.com	get	1	page_id=167
		<u>ا</u>	tesources 🗹	Static Dynamic						
			8	userdefault.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/forum-avatars/userdefault.p	ng
			a	subscribed.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/fault/subscribed.pd	ng
			8	logout.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/ss/default/logout.p	ng
			8	watching.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/default/watching.p	ng
			8	members-display.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/pluginsmembers-display.p	ng
			8	profile.png		www.soastastore	e.com	get	/wp-content/plugins/ss/default/profile.p	ng
			۵	aninhox nna		www.coostostor		aat	hun contant/olugina/ /dafault/gainhaw a	
/ M	less	ages	Actions	Scripts Properties Selected: s	astastore.com (9) Results	00:00:00.000	0 🕲 0		Record
	æ	soa	stastore.com	n (9)	Operatio	in: get				
	٥	HT	FP Request i	Headers	Operatio	n. get				
	$\langle \diamond \rangle$	Inp	uts		URL Va	lues	1			2
		83	JRL Values		Query S	String	nage_id=167			
	7 🔥	Rec	corded Requ	est	Guery	ung	page_id= ion			
		() I	Request Hea	aders						
		(à 1	Request Con	ntent						
	\diamond	HT	FP Response	e Headers						
4	~	Red	corded Resp	onse						
		6 I	Response He	eaders						
-	7 XYZ	() 	Response Co	ontent						
	7 🖷	Pro	perty Sets							
		vali	uadons Built in							

2. The first thing you need to determine is what text you want to validate. Meaning, what text must be in the response for this request to be considered a success? If you already know that, great. If not, you can use the Recorded Response Content to figure it out. Click Response Content in the left-hand lower pane.



3. Click the "Show the entire response" and then "Show as HTML" checkbox.



4. Scroll down in the window to identify text you want to validate on. In this case, you will see the text "Logged in as".



5. Now, be careful. You might want to just use the text "Logged in as" as your validation. However, remember this is a rendered version of the HTML. You need to make sure there aren't any hidden tags or other HTML artifacts contained in the actual HTML document. The validation is occurring on the raw HTML response – not the rendered HTML. To be sure this string actually shows up in the HTML

document, uncheck the "Show as HTML" checkbox and use your browser's Find feature to try to locate the string you want to validate (in this case, "Logged in as").



- 6. In this case, you are fine. The text "Logged in as" shows up in the response, so we can use this string. Obviously, make sure this string **only** shows up when the test is successful, or the validation won't be useful.
- 7. In the lower pane, click "Validations".



8. Click the green plus sign (*) in the area on the right to add a user-defined validation.

Built in validation is controlle	d by the target +	
This validation:	validates a portion of the response body	\$
XPath:		
Response Type:	XML	\$
Match type:	Matches glob expression	\$
Constant expression	"Logged in as"	
Errors should:	fail the parent	*
stomize result success/error mes	ssages	

- 9. The Validation form appears. Accept the default value: *This validation: validates a portion of the response body*. Note that you can also validate response headers.
- 10. Set the Response Type to *XML*.
- 11. Set the Match Type to *Matches glob expression*.
- 12. Enter the Glob Expression: *Logged in as*
- **Note:** You are entering *Logged in as* using the asterisk wildcard character to start and end the expression; in order to match this as a Glob.
- 13. If this validation should stop the test clip from proceeding, leave the Failure Action set to *Fail the parent*.
- 14. It is recommended that you update the success and failure messages. Set the Success Message as *Login Successful* and the Failure Message as *Login Failed*.

Operation: get		
Built in validation is controlled	I by the target	
		🕂 🗙
This validation:	validates a portion of the response body	
XPath:		
Response Type:	XML 💌	
Match type:	Matches glob expression	
Constant expression	*Logged in as*	
Failure Action:	Fail the parent	
Success Message:	Login Successful	
Failure Message:	Login Failed	
Hide result success/error messages	5	

- 15. Click Save in the Clip Editor toolbar.
- 16. You need to confirm the validation is working properly. Play this clip in the composition editor (with delays/think times overridden as described earlier). Expand the navigation tree to find the message you just applied this validation to. Make sure you see the "Login Successful" text in the Validations section of the Result Details dashboard. If you see an error, that means that either (a) your validation is wrong or (b) your test clip isn't actually logging in correctly. Inspect the login POST and the contents of this message to determine the problem.



17. Add additional validations to the topic forum POST and reply POST messages. Follow the process described above. Save the clip and verify the validations are working correctly in the test.

Using Scripts

CloudTest scripts are written in JavaScript for the CloudTest Object Model, which contains pre-defined JavaScript objects to which every script has access. Scripts in CloudTest can modify the current running test composition.

SOASTA CloudTest offers three property variables (<prop, \$sysprop, and \$globalprop) that simplify setting composition, system, and global properties.

We will use a script in this tutorial to generate a unique forum topic name that has a random number in it.

- 1. In Central, click on Scripts. Click the new button (1991). This opens a blank script-editing interface.
- 2. Copy and paste (or re-type) the code below into the script editor:

```
function generateRandomNumber(lowerExtreme, upperExtreme) {
  return Math.floor(Math.random() * (upperExtreme - lowerExtreme) + lowerExtreme);
 }
 var randomNumber = "" + generateRandomNumber(10000,99999);
 $context.result.postMessage($context.result.LEVEL_INFO, "Random number: " +
  randomNumber);
 $prop.set("MessageClip", "randomNumber", randomNumber);
```

- 3. Save the script with the name "Random Number Generator".
- 4. If you have the test clip open, close it and reopen it.
- 5. Click the "Scripts" tab in the Clip Editor lower pane, navigate to the Folder where the "Random Number Generator" script is located, and then select it.

Since, in this case, we want the random number generated at any point before we try to use it, it must be put into the test clip before we post the forum topic. A best practice is to put data generation scripts at the top of the test —as the first element in the test clip.

6. Drag the script into the test clip as the first item in the test. This script will now be executed before any of the HTTP requests are made.

CloudTest	🔚 Central 🔨 🗮 Draft Composition 🔶 😒	SOASTAd Reply 🙁	SOASTAeply clip 💿
			1 - 18 👂 🕅 50 🔻 List
A Q	Name	Type Target Name	Operation
	Random Number Generator		
▶ 🕮 🗠	soastastore.com Home Page		
A	Delay1		37597 ms.
▶ 🕮 🗠	Forum Default Page (not logged in)		
A	Delay2		20252 ms.
▶ 🕮 🗠	Post credentials		
▶ 🔳 🗠	Forum Default Page (logged in)		

- 7. You will notice in the script code that the last line in the script will put that random number into a clip property named "randomNumber". Create that property now in the "Properties" tab of the lower pane.
- 8. The last step is to use the random number in an HTTP request. We will use it in the POST that creates the forum topic. Open the page for that POST. In this tutorial, it is named *Post new forum topic*.
- 9. Double-click the HTML Document in this Page.

Clo	buc	Test	🔚 Central 🛛 📑 Draft Composition 🔶 🔇) 💿 sc	ASTAd Reply 🛞	SOASTAeply clip	[Robert]	Holcomb / SOASTA - Rob] About	t Logout
1		2	2 7 8 6	5) 🗙		1 - 18	50 🔻 List 🔻 🚺 🕲 🐑	1 1 🔎 🛸 📼	• •
		A Q	Name	Туре	Target Name	Operation			
Þ	• 🖲	8	Forum Default Page (logged in)						
	۱	8	Delay3				13144 ms.		
Þ		8	Forum Product Questions						
	8	8	Delay4				15171 ms.		
		8	Post new forum topic						
	HTN	IL Document							
		<u>a</u>	index.php (4)	HTML	www.soastastore.com	post	/index.php	sf_ahah=post	
	I i	Resources 🛽	Static 🗖 Dynamic						
Þ	•	8	Load newly posted forum topic						
		8	Delay5				19107 ms.		
	•	8	Post reply to forum topic						
	•	8	Load post with reply						
	2	8	Delay6				13953 ms.		
Þ	•	8	Logout						
	•	8	soastastore.com Hoage (after logout)						
Me	ssages	s/Actions	Scripts Properties Selected: index.php (4) Result	s 🕜 🕑 00:	00:00.000 😵 0		💿 Record	R
	📄 ind	ex.php (4) TP Request	Headers	Operation	n: post				
	🗘 Inp	uts		URL Val	ues	/index.php			<u>,</u>
V O Inputs URL Values Index.php () URL Values Query String Query String sf_ahah=post									
Query String Data									
∇	la Re	corded Req	uest	Data		forum-userform_addtopic=	%% prop : messageclip : forum-userform	addtopic %%}&forumid=4&	64
	4	Request He	aders			forumslug=product-question	ns&newtopicname=Post+1&postitem=Thi	s+is+sample+text+for+Post+1&	
	4	Request Co	ntent			topictags=ariewtopic=Savir	ig+Post		

10. Of most interest is the POST Data.

Data	forum-userform_addtopic={%% prop : messageclip : forum-userform_addtopic %%}&forumid=4&	64
	forumslug=product-questions&newtopicname=Post+1&postitem=This+is+sample+text+for+Post+1& topictags=&newtopic=Saving+Post	

11. Notice the attribute named "newtopicname" has a value of "Post+1". This is the element we want to update. Replace the "1" with the randomNumber clip property. As you did above, do this by: highlighting the "1", clicking the white property chooser icon, selecting the randomNumber property, and clicking OK. Repeat this process for the second occurrence of "1" in the last line of POST data. The final POST data should look something like this:

Data	forum-userform_addtopic={%% prop : messageclip : forum-userform_addtopic %%}&forumid=4&	6 4
	forumslug=product-questions&newtopicname=Post+{%% prop : clip : randomNumber	
	%%}&postitem=This+is+sample+text+for+Post+{%% prop : clip : randomNumber %%}&topictags=&	
	newtopic=Saving+Post	

12. Another "1" shows up in the POST that replies to the topic. You need to find that POST and insert the randomNumber property instead of the "1" in that message as well.

- **Note:** If you are completing this tutorial in a classroom-training environment (or sharing the same SOASTAStore.com environment), you probably want to change the title of your forum topics to something unique. Meaning, instead of using "POST+[randomNumber]", maybe you want to include your name like: "Rob+POST+[randomNumber]". Make this change now in the POST that creates the new forum topic.
- 13. Save the test clip.
- 14. Play the test back in a composition (don't forget to override the delays/think times).
- 15. Verify the random number that was generated by expanding the node next to the clip icon (a) in the Result Details dashboard. The first element in the clip is the "Random Number Generator" script; click it.



16. The script that was executed is shown on the right. Click the Events List button to see the events associated with this script.

		Ва	nd 1 ► Ti	rack 1 [0] ► SOAS	TA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip ► Random Number Generator
		4		••	
-					Summary Events List
Random	Numb	er Gen	erator		
Event		Time	Level	Event Code	Description
Lyon	8	24855	Info	Transition: start	Script starting (linked Script "/Random Number Generator").
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Script: "Random Number Generator"
	9	24861	Info	Transition: scmsg	Random number: 32216
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Script: "Random Number Generator"
	11	24861	Verbose	Transition: prsetr	Property "randomNumber" of Clip "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip", Track "Track 1" [0], Band "Band 1" set to new value.
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Script: "Random Number Generator"
					Details:
	12	24861	Info	Transition: end	Script completed.
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Script: "Random Number Generator"
	13	24861	Statistics	Transition: stats	Script statistics.
					Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Script: "Random Number Generator"
					Details:

- 17. The \$context.result.postMessage line in the script causes the random number to be output to this Events List interface. This is very useful for debugging scripts to make sure they are doing what they should be doing. Note the random number that was generated by this script.
- 18. In the left-hand navigation pane, select the Page that posts the new topic. Click the brown-colored POST message in the cover flow interface at the top of the window. In the Events List, expand the details for the "Sending message..." event. Scroll to the right and you should see that same random number show up in the POST data for this message.

Result Details				
🛛 Element Status: 🚺 🐳 🖓 All 👘 Element Ty	pe: Is 🔷 All		•	
Composition for SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Re	🖪 🗸 c	ompleted - Wit	h No Errors	Total Components: 130 Total Messages and Actions: 107 Error Components: 0
▼ III Track 1 [0]				
V SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Benly clin				Index.php (8)
Random Number Generator				
soastastore.com Home Page				◆ POST
Delav1				Automation Contraction of Contractio
Forum Default Page (not logged in)		Band 1 ► Tracl	1 [0] > SOAST	A Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip ► Post new forum topic ► index.php (4)
Delav2			••	
Post credentials		4		4
Forum Default Page (logged in)				Input Output Events List
Delay3	index.php (4)			
Forum Product Questions	Event	Time Level	Event Code	Description
Delay4	476	30391 Info	Message: send	Sending Message
Post new forum topic				Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" IOI Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Page: "Post
Load newly posted forum topic				new forum topic" Message: "index.php (4)"
Delay5	477	30302 Verbose	Transport: sand	Sending message "index.php (4)" to Destination "www.soastastore.com
Post reply to forum topic	411	30392 Verbuse	transport send	(www.soastastore.com)", operation "post".
Load post with reply				Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Target:
Delay6				"www.soastastore.com (www.soastastore.com)" Page: "Post new forum topic" Message: "index.pnp (4)"
Logout				* Details:
soastastore.com Home Page (after logout)				
				s_logged_in_fb2b19aaa84158875f98ab8f48187c0e⇒testuser1%7C1310246674%7C2c6bd3
				Kit/534.30 (KHTML, like Gecko) Chrome/12.0.742.112 Safari/534.30
				=0.8
				tions&newtopicname=Post+32216&postitem=This+is+sample+text+for+Post+32216&to
				4()>
	478	30751 Verbose	Transport: sent	Received response to message "index.php (4)".
				Band: "Band 1" Track: "Track 1" [0] Clip: "SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip" Target: "www.soastastore.com (www.soastastore.com)" Page: "Post new forum topic" Message: "Index.php (4)"
				▶ Details:

19. Repeat this process for the reply POST to make sure the same random number shows up in that post data.



20. Once you've verified the test appears to be working from the CloudTest perspective, do a last verification by looking at the SOASTAStore.com Forum site. You should see your new post (look at the timestamp to confirm) with the same random number you saw in the CloudTest messages. Click on that topic and you should see the same random number in the topic text and reply text.

Using Transactions

Depending on a test's goals, you may need transaction information in addition to page-level information. Individual pages can be grouped into transactions so that dashboard metrics can be used to report on the performance of a transaction—in addition to the performance of individual pages. This section will walk you through the process of creating transactions.

1. Open the test clip you've been working on. It should look like this:

Clo	udTest 🔚 Central 🗐 SOAST	Aeply clip (3		
1			B) 🗙		1 - 18 50 - List
	Name	A Q	Туре	Target Name	Operation
0	Random Number Generator	8			
▶	soastastore.com Home Page	8	Page		
	Delay1	8			37597 ms.
	Forum Default Page (not logged in)	8	Page		
	Delay2	8			20252 ms.
4	Post credentials	8	Page		
	Forum Default Page (logged in)	8	Page		
	Delay3	8			13144 ms.
	Forum Product Questions	8	Page		
8	Delay4	8			15171 ms.
	Post new forum topic	8	Page		
	Load newly posted forum topic	8	Page		
	Delay5	8			19107 ms.
4	Post reply to forum topic	8	Page		
▶	Load post with reply	8	Page		
	Delay6	8			13953 ms.
▶	Logout	8	Page		
▶	soastastore.com Home Page (after logout)	8	Page		

2. You will create a transaction that includes loading the SOASTAStore.com home page, loading the Forum default page, logging in, and loading the Forum default page after login. Start by multi-selecting these pages and think times (delays) in the test clip.

C	01	IdTest 📔 Central 📓 SOASTA	eply clip 🔘					
			66			1 - 18	50	D 🔻 🗌 List 👻
		Name	A Q	Туре	Target Name		Operation	
	0	Random Number Generator	8					
۶		soastastore.com Home Page	8	Page				
		Delay1	8					37597 ms.
•		Forum Default Page (not logged in)	8	Page				
	۱	Delay2	8					20252 ms.
		Post credentials	8	Page				
		Forum Default Page (logged in)	8	Page				
	۱	Delay3	8					13144 ms.
		Forum Product Questions	8	Page				
	8	Delay4	8					15171 ms.
₽		Post new forum topic	8	Page				

3. Right-click on the highlighted area and choose "Create a Transaction" from the menu.



4. A transaction with a default name of "Transaction1" has been created.

Clou	udTest 📔 Central 📓 SOASTA	eply clip 📀				
	- 4 4	6 6			1 - 12	50 - List -
	Name	0 G	Туре	Target Name		Operation
7	Transaction1	8	Transaction			
	Random Number Generator	8				
3	soastastore.com Home Page	8	Page			
	Delay1	8				37597 ms.
3	Forum Default Page (not logged in)	8	Page			
	Delay2	8				20252 ms.
3	Post credentials	8	Page			
	Forum Default Page (logged in)	8	Page			

5. Rename the transaction to *Access and login to Forum*.

Clou	dTest 🔚 Central 🔲 SOASTA.	eply clip 💿				
-		6 6			1 - 12	50 • List •
1	Name	₽ Q	Туре	Target Name		Operation
🔻 🛄 A	Access and login to Forum	8	Transaction			10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 -
	Random Number Generator	8				
Þ	soastastore.com Home Page	8	Page			
	Delay1	8				37597 ms.
Þ	Forum Default Page (not logged in)	8	Page			
	Delay2	8				20252 ms.
	Bost credentials	8	Page			
Þ	Forum Default Page (logged in)	8	Page			

- 6. Save the test clip.
- 7. Repeat this process, as desired, to add additional transactions to this test clip.
- 8. Save the test clip.
- 9. Transaction-based metrics will now be available in the CloudTest dashboards. Here is the Result Details Dashboard with the transaction we created above (Access and login to Forum).

Result Details			_	_		[<i>:</i> # X
Y Element Status: Is All Element Typ	e: Is 🗧 All	•					
Composition for SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Re	💽 🖌 Completed - V	Vith No Errors	Total Components	: 131 Total Messages	and Actions: 1	07 Error Components: 0)
V 🚺 Track 1			Acces	s and I			
V 📰 SOASTA Store Post Forum Topic and Reply clip					s =	3 G -	
Access and login to Forum					jet jet jet	् ग्र हा ह	
Random Number Generator							
soastastore.com Home Page	Band 1 F 1	frack 1 ► SOAS	TA Store Post Forum	Topic and Reply clip ►	Access and I	ogin to Forum	
Delay1	(1()					(
🕨 🔳 Forum Default Page (not logged in)			Summary	Events List			
Delay2	Access and login to Forum						
Post credentials	Effective Duration	A		T-t-INA D-t			
Forum Default Page (logged in)	Effective Duration	Avg. Res	ponse lime	Total Message Byte	es t	Inective Message	
Delay3	1:00 (mm:ss)	62 ms.		S: 30,132 R: 1	17,544	1 magnpat	
Forum Product Questions	Start: 2 sec.	Min: 2 ms. Max: 794 m	Agg: 3 sec.		1 msgs/s		
Delay4					1	9,413 bits/s	
Post new forum topic	Component Summonu		Retries due to una	vailable local	Retry time	due to unavailable	
Load newly posted forum topic	Component Summary	50	ports		local ports	1	
Delay5	Browser Actions	56	Maximum	0	Maximum		0
Post reply to forum topic	Scripts	1	Average	0	Average		0
Load post with reply	Delays Checkpoints	2	Total	0	Total		0

Using Seed Data to Parameterize data

Seed data is used to parameterize a test clip. This tutorial will parameterize the user account. Once seed data has been setup, each test clip will login with a unique user account. There are three primary steps to setting up Seed Data: (1) create the seed data object in the CloudTest repository, (2) setup the clip in the composition to access the Seed Data object, and (3) configure the test clip to use the clip property created in the composition.

- 1. From Central, click the "Seed Data" item on the left.
- 2. Click the new icon () and the Seed Data wizard appears.

3. In the Name field, enter: *SOASTA Store Users*

Name:	SOASTA Store Users	
Description:	:	
		<u>e</u> :
The data	should be encrypted	
key:	2510	
		-
O Import a	CSV file	
Fi	ile: Browse	
F	First row contains the column names	
-		

4. Leave the other defaults alone and click the green arrow on the right.

	Definition and Edit			
	Column 1		÷	
1			_	
		Finish Ca	ncel	

5. Replace the default "Column 1" text with "username".

(Definition and Edit							
		username						
	1							
	÷							

6. In the field to the right of the "1" and under the username column, enter "testuser1". Click the green plus sign to add an additional row to the table. Repeat this process for each of the usernames: testuser2, testuser3, testuser4, and testuser5. It should look like the following when done:

D	efinition and Edit
	username
1	testuser1
2	testuser2
3	testuser3
4	testuser4
5	testuser5
+	

- 7. Click the Finish button.
- 8. Return to the clip in the Clip Editor.
- 9. In the lower pane, click the Properties tab and then select "Clip Custom Properties" sub-tab on the left. You should see the clip custom properties created using the Session Template Package Wizard.

Messages/Actions / Scripts / C	lips Properties	Selecte	d: soastastore.com	Results		(© 00:00:00 (© 0		
Property Type	Clip C	ustom Pro	perties					
Clip Custom Properties	Prope	rty name:	_wpnonce					
Clip Properties								
Delays	Va	alue type:	Constant	\$				
Page Resource Settings								
Applied Session Templates & Package	es	Save value for analytics						
			Property value is	tied to the virte	ual user			
			New value pe	r virtual user it	teration			
	D	escription:						

10. Scroll to the last custom property in the Clip Custom Properties panel on the right, and then click the green Plus (+) icon to add a new Clip Custom Property.

Property name:	clipProp	
Value type:	Constant 🔹	
	Save value for analytics	
	Property value is tied to the virtual user	
	New value per virtual user iteration	
Description:		

- 11. In the Property name field, enter: *username*
- 12. In the Value type drop-down, select: Seed Data: Repository

	General	Repeat	Page Resource	Settings	Delays	Custom Properties
Property name:	username					+ ×
Value type	Seed Data	Repository) Seed data object: (SOASTA St	ore Users	\$
Advanced:	Maximum	rows per server:		(default: 200	00)	
		Rows per track:		(default: 1)		
		Column count:		(default: 1)		
	🗌 Use a s	ubset of the see	d data	1		
		Starting Row:		Number of r	ows:	

- 13. In the Seed data object field, select *SOASTA Store Users*.
- 14. Leave the other defaults unchanged.
- 15. Save the clip.
- 16. If it isn't open already, open the test composition.
- 17. Open the Page that contains the login POST. In this case, it is the *Post credentials* Page in the *Access and login to Forum* transaction.

Clo	CloudTest / 🔄 Central 🛛 🔤 SOASTAeply clip 🛇 (🗮 Compo Reply clip 🛇											
1	-		Ę.	6 🗙		1 - 12	5	0 • List •		>	▼ 000 ▼	- <u>*</u>
	N	ame	<u>କ</u> ଦ	Туре	Target Name		Operation					
▼ 🧧	A	ccess and login to Forum	8	Transaction								1
		Random Number Generator	<u>a</u>									
	►	soastastore.com Home Page	a	Page								
		Delay1	a					37597 ms.				
		Forum Default Page (not logged in)	8	Page								
		Delay2	8					20252 ms.				
	7	Post credentials	8	Page								
		HTML Document										
		wp-login.php (2)	<u>a</u>	HTML	www.soastastore	.com	post	/wp-login.php	actio	on=login&view=	forum	
		Resources 🗹 Static 🗋 Dynamic										
	D	elay3	8					13144 ms.				
	F	orum Product Questions	8	Page								
S	D	elav4	8	-				15171 ms.				
	P	ost new forum topic		Page								
) IZ	ad newly nosted forum tonic		Page								_
			<u>ه</u>	1 age				10107 ma				
		elay5		-				19107 ms.				
	P	ost reply to forum topic	-	Page								
Mess	age	s/Actions Scripts Clips Properties	Selected:	wp-login.php (2)	Results	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (0:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:0]	Reco	rd 🛃		
		losis she (2)										
	HI HI	TP Request Headers	n	Operation: pos	st							- Â
V C	V Inputs			URL Values		/wp-login.ph	p				E	
VRL Values			Query String			9						
Query String			Query String		action=login	aview=iorum						
Data			Data		log=testuser	1&pwd=soasta⊂	mit=Login&redirec	t_to=%2F%3Fpage_id%3D167		64		
₹\$	▼											
C Request Headers												
	6	Request Content										

18. Double-click the HTML Document inside this page to see the POST data.

19. Review the POST data.

3D167

- 20. We want to parameterize the "testuser1" text. To do that, replace the "testuser1" text with the property reference to the track property we just created. In this case, enter: {%% prop : parent-clip : /username %%}
- 21. Your POST data should look like this:

Data	Multi-part post					
	log=[%% prop : parent-clip : /username %%]&pwd=soasta&submit=Login&redirect_to=%2F% <u>3Fpage_id</u> %3D167					

- 22. Save the test clip.
- 23. Switch back to the composition.
- 24. Increase the number of virtual users on the track to 5 by clicking the virtual user icon (²⁵) and entering "5" in the field to the right of the icon.

CloudTest	Central	🥅 SOASTAeply clip 🛞 🔛 Compo Reply clip 🛇
-	2	r 🖪 🖻 🔉 🛞 🕨 💵
Total Virtual Users:	5	Sequenced Band: Band 1
Track 1		SOASTA Store Post Forum To
Any Location	🚅 5 100 % 🕰	£. 🗅

- 25. Save the composition.
- 26. Play the composition (remember to disable delays/think times).
- 27. Inspect each of the login POSTs to confirm that unique user accounts are being used in the post messages. In the example below, testuser3 is correctly being parameterized in this test.



```
Operation: post
POST /wp-login.php?action=login&view=forum HTTP/1.1
Host: www.soastastore.com
Content-Length: 69
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Accept-Language: en-US, en; g=0.8
Cookie: PHPSESSID=avaugpsgbmu8dphgd1a0hoojp3
Accept-Charset: ISO-8859-1,utf-8;q=0.7,*;q=0.3
Referer: http://www.soastastore.com/?page id=167
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate, sdch
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (Macintosh; Intel Mac OS X 10 6 8) AppleWebKit/534.30
Origin: http://www.soastastore.com
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Proxy-Connection: keep-alive
Cache-Control: max-age=0
 URL Values
                           /wp-login.php
 Query String
                           action=login&view=forum
 Data
                          log=testuser3&pwd=soasta&submit=Login&redirect_to=%2F%3Fg
```

Test Execution

Setting Play Mode for Load Testing

CloudTest provides play modes that are recommended settings for both debug (General) and load (Load) testing. General play mode provides verbose logging settings that enable you to debug tests. Load play mode omits verbose logging, but captures statistical information in real-time to help identify performance bottlenecks in a web application.

1. Before you run any load tests, in the Composition Editor you need to click the Play Mode drop-down and choose Load. This will run the test in an optimized way for load tests. Note that the debugging dashboard (Result Details) is not available in Load play mode. You will need to use other dashboards to review your data while in Load play mode.



Adding System Dashboards to tests

While running a test, there are a number of different dashboards you might use (load summary, error analysis, bandwidth analysis, etc.) to identify how a test is running and to identify any performance bottlenecks. The steps below show you how to add a dashboard, the Load Test Summary Dashboard, to the test composition. This dashboard is one of several built-in Dashboards available for you to use while running load tests. You can also build your own custom dashboards, but the steps for doing this are beyond the scope of this tutorial.

- **Note:** The Result Details Dashboard's detailed information is only available if you've run a test with the "general" test mode. This mode is not available for load tests—only for test development and debugging. No more than 10 virtual users should be run in General mode.
- 1. To add a dashboard, click the Play tab in the top right of the Composition Editor.



2. Click the Plus icon to the right of the Result Details dashboard. The New or Existing Dashboard wizard appears.



3. Click the Load Test Summary Dashboard from the System Dashboards list and click the right green arrow.



4. The dashboard is added to the Composition Editor tab. The data from the last result for the test composition populates the widgets in the dashboard. If you are running a test when you add a new dashboard, the data for the currently running test will populate into this dashboard in real-time.



5. Click Play in the Composition Editor toolbar.

- While the test composition plays, each of the widgets displays various animation effects indicating incoming data and reflects the real-time status of the test.
- Mouse over and click any item in the Average Response Time or Send Rate charts to view detail information.



• To zoom on a region of any chart, click-and-drag a rectangle. This zooms in on the selected chart AND all the other charts in the dashboard. The timestamps paired to make this deep investigation of the data possible. Double-click to un-zoom the chart.

This has been a brief introduction to adding Dashboards to a test composition. For more information about configuring dashboards and all the metrics available to analyze test results, please see CloudLink.

Advanced exercise

To enhance your understanding of CloudTest, try these advanced enhancements to the test:

- Instead of always choosing the same forum to post to, randomly choose a forum from the list of 4.
- Use a script to add a date/timestamp to the forum post content.

Next Steps...

Many topics are outside the scope of this introductory Load Test Creation Tutorial and deserve attention. Below are brief descriptions of the topics, but more information can be found online in CloudLink.

Pages versus Transactions

In this tutorial you created a test that utilized Pages. As described above, this is a grouping that most closely represents how a browser sends HTTP requests to a web application. An HTML document is retrieved, and then 6 threads in parallel retrieve the resources for that page. This is the most common way to create tests in CloudTest. It is important to note, however, that another grouping mechanism is available in test clips: Transactions.

Transactions provide a means to logically group and capture metrics for one or more tasks in a process. Transactions permit discrete business processes to be grouped accordingly. For example, a multi-step checkout process from an ecommerce website. In a site that includes a shopping cart, a user logs into that site, adds an item to their cart, and checks out. Each of these steps can be thought of as a transaction—the performance of which can be measured as a transaction.

Unlike pages, which can contain only one HTML page and which treat each HTML document as separate steps in a process, a Transaction permits all the parts of a logical group to be tested together.

Once logically grouped, the Transaction provides a convenient means to measure the amount of time it takes a server to perform a given defined task or set of tasks.

Note that it isn't an either/or situation with Pages versus Transactions. Many tests utilize a combination of both Pages and Transactions. For example, the Transaction shown above (in Icon view) contains multiple CloudTest pages that equates to a complete tasks in a web application. By constructing the test as a Transaction, metrics about the specific "transaction" (e.g. submitting a form) can be captured. Among the metrics captured is the server response time it takes to submit all or part of a Transaction. An individual Transaction can be measured again at various increments of load. The resulting metrics are useful in identifying potential bottlenecks as an outcome of testing discrete business processes. The **Transaction** above is shown in List view below..

Building Dashboards

Real-time analytics are the cornerstone of the CloudTest solution. The goal of any test is to understand how an application performs under differing conditions. The only way to determine how an application is performing during a test is by using real-time dashboards. Everyone looks for different things in a dashboard, so CloudTest provides an intuitive and flexibly way for every user to create and edit their own dashboards. All metrics are available in real-time and can be exported when tests are complete.

As a CloudTest user who will be running tests, it is critical you understand which metrics (both test-related and monitoring-related) are available within CloudTest. This will make you more efficient while running a test and help you identify performance bottlenecks quicker. Take time to review each of the metrics available in CloudTest and understand what that data means and how to interpret it during a test.

Dynamic Pages

This tutorial used static pages in the test clip. It is a good idea to spend some time working with Dynamic Pages. As described above, these are very different as they dynamically parse out the Resources (CSS, JS, images, etc.) in an HTML document. It takes some time to become familiar with correctly filtering Dynamic Pages to make sure they are making the HTTP requests the test goals require (and more importantly, not making the requests for resources the test goals explicitly exclude).

If-Then-Else and Switch

The Clip Editor supports a visual mechanism for doing if-then-else and switch statements within a test. If you plan to include conditional logic in a test, these are important topics to review. These mechanisms provide the ability to create very complex test cases, but spend the time to make sure you understand how to use the features correctly.
Monitoring

Monitoring is a key part of any test. Monitoring data provides back-end metrics detailing the impact a test is having on the application or application infrastructure and helps the tester identify possible performance bottlenecks. CloudTest provides its own monitoring tools, in addition to integrating with 3rd-party tools like CA's Wily Introscope product. Spend some time installing a couple monitors and reviewing the Monitoring FAQ document to become familiar with the capabilities of CloudTest monitoring features.

SOASTA, Inc. 444 Castro Street, 4th Floor Mountain View, CA 94041 866.344.8766 http://www.soasta.com